South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

1977

Variables Associated With Breeding Waterfowl On South Dakota Stock Ponds

Jay A. Roberson

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd

Part of the Natural Resources and Conservation Commons

Recommended Citation

Roberson, Jay A., "Variables Associated With Breeding Waterfowl On South Dakota Stock Ponds" (1977). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 206. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/206

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

VARIABLES ASSOCIATED WITH BREEDING WATERFOWL ON SCUTH DAKOTA STOCK PONDS

ΒY

JAY A. ROBERSON

•

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Science, Major in Wildlife and Fisheries Science (Wildlife Option) South Dakota State University

1977

SOUTH DAKOTA STATE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

VARIABLES ASSOCIATED WITH BREEDING WATERFOWL ON SOUTH DAKOTA STOCK PONDS

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the degree, Master of Science, and is acceptable as meeting the thesis requirements for this degree, but without implying that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

-

. -

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to L. D. Flake for his advice and encouragement throughout this study.

W. L. Tucker, Agricultural Experiment Station Statistician, is thanked for his aid in the design, analysis, and interpretation of the statistics used in this study. Thanks for multivariate statistical advice is also extended to M. Brown, D. H. Johnson, and J. E. Eaton. Marilyn Eighmy is thanked for typing this manuscript.

I am indebted to M. R. McEnroe, J. J. Ruwaldt, W. G. Brewster, and G. D. Mack for collecting data in 1973 and 1974. Fellow students, M. R. Weber, J. K. Ringelman, and G. D. Mack, are thanked for their help in the field research during 1975 and 1976. Technicians, W. J. Kurtenbach, C. H. Schlueter, M. Rabenberg, and D. Humpal are sincerely thanked for their aid in field research and in the coding of field data.

Most importantly, I want to thank my wife, Rosana, for her patience and support. She and our daughter, Wendy, sacrificed much of their free time so that I could devote greater attention to this study.

Financial support for this project was provided by the South Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station, Project H-615, and the Water Resources Institute, Project A-038-SDAK, and B-045-SDAK, South Dakota State University.

JAR

VARIABLES ASSOCIATED WITH BREEDING WATERFOWL

ON SOUTH DAKOTA STOCK PONDS

Abstract

Jay Roberson

Use of stock watering ponds by indicated breeding pairs of waterfow] was measured in the western two-thirds of South Dakota from 1973 to 1976. Multiple regression and discriminant analyses were used to describe the habitat associated with pairs of each species. Habitat variables explained 35 - 47 percent of the variation in pairs having small home ranges and 26 - 35 percent of the variation in pairs having large home ranges. Shoreline distance accounted for more variation in mallard (Anas platyrhynchos) and blue-winged teal (A. discors) pairs than any other single variable. Ponds used by these pairs had shoreline distances that averaged 590 m which was significantly (P<0.005) greater than the mean shoreline distances of ponds not used (\overline{X} = 270 m). Numbers of blue-winged teal and pintail (A. acuta) pairs increased proportionately with increased shoreline irregularity. Pairs of all species except the American wigeon (A. americana) were observed on ponds with significantly (P<0.005) larger mean surface water area than the mean surface area of ponds where pairs were not observed. Pond basin area accounted for more variance in pintail, northern shoveler (A. clypeata), and green-winged teal (A. carolinensis) pairs than any other single variable including surface water area. Numbers of pairs of these species increased with increased basin area. The number of wetlands and types

of wetlands on the study plots appeared to be important variables associated with the use of stock ponds by breeding pairs.

Emergent vegetation species, height, and interspersion were important variables associated with breeding pair use of stock ponds. The presence of sedges (<u>Carex</u> spp.) accounted for more variation in numbers of gadwall (<u>Anas strepera</u>) and American wigeon pairs than any other variable. All breeding pairs were positively associated with roundstem bulrushes (<u>Scirpus validus</u> and <u>S</u>. <u>acutus</u>). Pintail and gadwall pairs used ponds with scattered dense patches or diffuse open stands of emergents but tended not to use completely open ponds. Pintails, American wigeons, northern shovelers, and green-winged teal tended not to use ponds with a dense band of emergents around the shore. Mallard and pintail pairs per pond declined with increased grazing intensity on the upland.

Geographic location of stock ponds was associated with pair use. Mallard, pintail, blue-winged teal, gadwall and northern shoveler pairs tended to use ponds located east rather than west of the Missouri River. American wigeon pairs were more abundant on ponds located in the northern portion of western South Dakota than on ponds located elsewhere.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

| NTRODUCTION |
|-------------------------------|
| STUDY AREA |
| IETHODS |
| Census methods |
| Statistical methods |
| RESULTS |
| Mallard |
| Pintail |
| Blue-winged teal |
| Gadwall |
| American wigeon |
| Northern shoveler |
| Green-winged teal |
| Early-nesting species |
| Mid- and late-nesting species |
| DISCUSSION |
| Wetland habitat |
| Emergent vegetation |
| Wetland associations |
| Physiographic strata |
| Upland habitat |
| Disturbance |
| Time and temperature |

6 . 377

LIST OF TABLES

-

| Table | | Page |
|-------|---|------------------|
| 1 | List of independent variables and explanations for multi- variate analysis. The mnemonic form will be used to refer to the variables in tables of the Appendices | 8-9 |
| 2 | Summary table of significant results of multiple regres- sion, 1973 - 1976. Variables are listed in order of entry in accounting for successive maximum variability in pairs. Standardized partial regression coefficients are listed for those variables which were significant (A:P<0.05) and (B:P<0.005) in reducing the error sum of squares at each step | 17-18 |
| 3 | Major discriminating variables as indicated by discriminant analysis between ponds with no indicated pairs and ponds with at least one pair, 1973 - 1976. All variables were significant (P<0.05) in discriminating based on change in Rao's V at each step | 19-20 |
| 4 | Discriminant analysis between ponds with one or more indicated pairs of mallard and ponds with one or more indicated pairs of pintail, 1973 - 1976. All variables were significant (P<0.10) using Rao's V | 41 |
| 5 | Discriminant analysis between ponds with blue-winged teal, gadwall, American wigeon, northern shoveler, and green-wing teal indicated breeding pairs, 1973 - 1976. The percent correctly classified is based on four discriminant function Only the first (A) and second (B) are listed in this table. Variables were significant (P<0.15) using Rao's V | ied is. 42 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1 | Distribution of randomly located sample cluster centers in the four major physiographic strata having greatest numbers of stock ponds in South Dakota | 3 |
| 2 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of mallards on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 22 |
| 3 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of mallards on pond age, 1973 - 1976 | 23 |
| 4 | Polynomial regression of indicated breeding pairs on census time of day in Central Daylight time, 1973 - 1976 | 25 |
| 5 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of pintails on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 27 |
| 6 | Polynomial regression for those species which were significantly regressed on shoreline development, 1973 - 1976 | 28 |
| 7 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of blue-winged teal on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 31 |
| 8 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of gadwall on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 34 |
| 9 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of American wigeon on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 36 |
| 10 | Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of northern shoveler on surface water area, 1973 - 1976 | 39 |
| 11 | Ordination of mid- and late-nesting waterfowl species on the first two discriminant functions, 1973 - 1976 | 44 |

LIST OF APPENDICES

• -

ť

| Appendix | | Page |
|----------|---|------|
| А | Stock pond density | 69 |
| В | Precipitation and pond surface water area | 72 |
| С | Breeding pairs and surface water | 83 |
| D | Correlation matrix of significant (γ <0.016 at 0.05 level) and highly significant (γ <0.138 at 0.01 level) simple correlation coefficients between independent variables and indicated breeding pairs by species, 1973 - 1976 | 97 |
| E | Correlation matrix of highly significant (P<0.01; Ho: γ = 0.0) simple correlation coefficients between independent variables | 98 |



INTRODUCTION

Breeding dabbling ducks (Anatini) intensively utilize stock ponds even though these ponds have been constructed and managed primarily for livestock (Bue 1956, Duebbert 1972). Smith (1958) found that stock ponds supported 23 percent of the breeding waterfowl population in Montana, North Dakota, and South Dakota but made up only 16 percent of the number of wetlands in these states. Kruse (1972) observed that stock ponds comprised less than one percent of the surface water area on Arrowwood National Wildlife Refuge in North Dakota but supported 25 percent of the breeding pairs. Ruwaldt (1975) found that stock ponds made up only 14 percent of the total wetland area in South Dakota but supported about half of the American wigeon and about one-third of the pintail and mallard breeding pair populations. Stock ponds will likely increase in importance in the future because of their compatibility with agricultural land use.

More efficient use of the waterfowl resource will be made by managing breeding waterfowl on a species basis (Smith 1971). Species specific management of breeding pairs on stock ponds will require information on the ecological requirements of each species. Wetland and upland habitat variables that can be managed to improve production on existing ponds or implemented in the development of new ponds are of particular importance. The objectives of this study were to identify those wetland and upland habitat variables which were most associated with variation in numbers and occurrence of breeding pairs of waterfowl on stock ponds.

STUDY AREA

South Dakota has been divided into eight major physiographic strata based on differences in vegetation, climate, topography, and soil parent material (Flint 1955) (Figure 1). Four of these strata lie east and four lie west of the Missouri River. Ninety-seven percent of the stock ponds in South Dakota are located in one east-river and three west-river strata (Ruwaldt 1975). These four strata are the Missouri Coteau (stratum IV), Northern Plateau (stratum V), Pierre Hills (stratum VI), and Southern Plateau (stratum VII) (Figure 1). This study was restricted to these four strata which comprises 66 percent of the total land area (199,552 km²) in South Dakota.

The Missouri Coteau is an unevenly dissected plateau-like highland of glacial drift underlain by Pierre shale (Flint 1955). Glaciation has altered the original east-west drainage pattern into the present northsouth pattern of the James River to the east and Missouri River to the west. Glacial wetlands are abundant in the northern portion of the Coteau where drainage is poor. Eastern slopes are drained by short parallel streams to the James River while western slopes are drained by a more irregular stream pattern to the Missouri River. The narrow southern portion of the Coteau is well drained by tributaries of both the James and Missouri Rivers. These drainage patterns, particularly westward into the Missouri River, have provided a number of sites for stock pond construction.

The Northern Plateau is characterized by a series of plateaus,



1

Figure 1. Distribution of randomly located sample cluster centers in the four major physiographic strata having greatest numbers of stock ponds in South Dakota.

benches, and isolated buttes (Flint 1955). The dissected, steplike surface rises from 610 m near the Missouri River to over 915 m above sea level near the extreme northeastern corner of the state. Shales and sandstone lie under the silt and clay loam soils (Westin et al. 1970). The Grand and Moreau Rivers drain eastward to the Missouri River. The dispersed drainage pattern of the tributaries provides ample sites for stock ponds.

The southern most stratum borders the Sand Hills of Nebraska to the south. The Southern Plateau appears as undulating tableland and badlands due to the plateaus and broad benches that have weathered to varying degree. Underlying sandstones, siltstones, and shale yield a silt and clay loam soil over most of the area. This region slopes upward from 853 m near the Missouri River to 1097 m above sea level near the Black Hills. Drainage northward occurs through tributaries of the White River and southward by the Keya Paha River.

Between these two west-river strata and lower in elevation lies a region of rolling plain interrupted by a few steep valley sides and isolated buttes. This stratum, the Pierre Hills, obtained its name from the rolling hills and underlying bedrock of Pierre shale. This shale erodes quite readily to produce smooth hills and ridges with convex tops covered by a dark plastic clay soil. A well integrated system of tributaries of the Cheyenne, Bad, and White Rivers drains this stratum eastward to the Missouri River. Stock ponds are most abundant in this stratum.

METHODS

5

This study on stock ponds was part of a broader statewide waterfowl survey conducted from 1973 to 1976. Sample design for this study was the same as the design for the overall statewide survey previously described in detail by Brewster et al. (1976). Sampling consisted of ground counts of breeding waterfowl on randomly located 64.8 ha (quarter section) plots in the four study strata. Numbers of plots per stratum were as follows: Missouri Coteau (80), Northern Plateau (72), Pierre Hills (92), and Southern Plateau (56). The proportion of the total area of each stratum sampled is given in Table 1 of Appendix A.

All stock ponds containing surface water on these plots were considered sample units. A stock pond was defined as the impoundment resulting from damming a natural waterway. Each stratum was well represented although the number of stock ponds containing water varied by stratum and year (Table 2, Appendix A).

Census Methods

Two censuses were conducted on the stock ponds each year. Average census dates for early-nesting pairs were 11 May to 26 May while mid- and late-nesting pairs were censused from 7 June to 18 June. Early-nesting pairs included mallard (Anas platyrhynchos) and pintail (A. acuta) (Hammond 1969). Mid- and late-nesting species were northern shoveler (A. clypeata), blue-winged teal (A. discors), gadwall (A. strepera), green-winged teal (A. carolinensis), American wigeon (A. americana),

ruddy duck (Oxyura jamaicensis), and lesser scaup (Aythya affinis). Numbers of pairs of lesser scaup and ruddy duck were not sufficient for statistical analysis (Appendix C). Consequently, these two species were dropped from further study. No confirmed observations of any other duck species occurred on study ponds over the four years.

Indicated breeding pairs rather than actual observed pairs were used in all analyses. Pairs, lone drakes, and pairs in groups were tabulated as indicated breeding pairs (Hammond 1969). Lone females in excess of lone males on a given plot were also recorded as indicated breeding pairs (Stewart and Kantrud 1972).

Censuses of plots containing study ponds were conducted by two two-man crews. The state was censused in a southern to northern direction to reduce effects of latitude on the pair counts. Ponds were censused by the walk, wade, and vehicular methods as described by Hammond (1969). The method used depended on the amounts of emergent cover and size of the stock pond. Censuses were conducted from one-half hour before sunrise to one-half hour after sundown.

During each visit to the stock ponds, wetland and upland habitat information was recorded. Some of this information was sketched on photo duplicates of aerial photographs obtained from the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service (ASCS). High water line (basin area), actual water line (shoreline), emergent pattern (cover type), and upland cover type were mapped on these photo duplicates. Breeding pairs and remaining habitat information were tabulated on field forms. The explanation of habitat variables

and how each was recorded is given in Table 1.

Two variables, pond age and shoreline development, were analyzed separately because values were not available for all the ponds studied. Pond age was defined as years since dam construction. Dates of dam construction were copied from permits for cost sharing submitted to the ASCS and filed in Pierre, South Dakota, with the Department of Natural Resources. Construction dates for privately funded ponds were obtained from land owners. Shoreline development was computed as the ratio of shoreline distance to the circumference of a circle having the same area as the surface water area of the pond (Lagler 1956:245). Shoreline development is a measure of shoreline irregularity and is commonly used as an index of biological productivity of lakes.

Statistical Methods

Three basic types of analyses were used in exploring the relationships between breeding pairs and breeding habitat. These analyses were multiple regression, discriminant analysis, and polynomial regression. Multiple regression has been used in other ecological studies to describe breeding habitats and coexistence of bird species (Sturman 1968, Lokemoen 1973). Similarly, stepwise forward solution multiple regression (Steel and Torrie 1960, Kim and Kohout 1975) was used to provide evidence for ecological preferences of species of breeding waterfowl using stock ponds.

Stepwise forward solution multiple regression analysis consists

| Hnemon 1c | Independent Variable | | Explanation |
|--------------|---|---|---|
| Wetland Habi | itat Variables: | | |
| нрв | Hectares of stock pond basin | : | HPB measured by polar planimeter |
| HPSW | Hectares of steck pand surface water | : | HPB multiplied by PSW |
| HPOW | Hectares of stock pond open water | : | HPSW multiplied by POW |
| PSW | Percent surface water of basin area | : | Visual estimate made in the field |
| POW | Percent open water of surface water area | : | Visual estimate made in the field |
| SLDI | Stock pond shoreling distance in meters | : | Measured by wap measure from drawings on photo duplicates |
| VEGH | Emergent vegetation height in centimaters | : | Visual estimate made in the field |
| CRAT2 | Cover type 2 (! • present, O = absent) | : | Cover type is the same as defined ty Stewart and Kantrud (1971) for natural ponds and lakes. Open water or bare soil covering 5 to 95 percent of the wetland area, with scattered mense patches or diffuse open stands of emergent cover was designated as cover type 2. Closed stands of emergent cover (cover type 1) with open water or bare soil covering lets than 5 percent of the wetland area was not characteristic of any of the study ponds over the 4 years. |
| CRAT3 | Cover type 3 (1 = present, 0 = absent) | : | Central expanses of open water or bare soil (comprising more than 5 percent of the wetland area) surrounded by peripheral bands of emergent cover averaging 1.62 maters or more in width was defined as cover type 3. Cover type 4 was designated as open water or bare soil covering more than 95 percent of the wetland area and small sorris with emergent cover restricted to marginal bands less than 1.82 meters in width. Cover type 4 was the most common cover type for stock ponds so it was used as a reference category and not entered as a dramy variable in multiple regression (Kim and Kohout 1975:377). |
| ORATI | Depth rating 1 (1 = present, O = absent) | : | Water level above normal high-water mark, surface water present within the wet-prairie or the wet-meanw lone constituted a depth rating 1. Depth rating 2 was defined as the normal or full condition, with surface water restricted to shallow-marsh, acco-marsh, and open-water zones. Depth rating 2 was the reference dategory. |
| DRATS | Depth rating 3 (1 = present, 0 = absent) | : | Shallow-marsh zone at least 25 percent dry |
| DRAT4 | Depth rating 4 (1 = present, 0 = absent) | : | Shallow-marsh zone at least 75 percent dry |
| DRAT5 | Depth rating 5 (1 • present, O • absent) | : | Deep-marsh zone at least 25 percent dry; mudflats or draw-down plant communities present. Depth rating 6, deep-marsh zone at least 75 percent dry, was not common enough for analysis. Dry ponds were not analyzed. |
| PGR | Percent of the shoreline being grazed | : | Visual estimate made in the field |
| Upland Habi | tat Variables: | | |
| GINT | Grazing intensity of upland | : | (O = no grazing, 1 = light, 2 = mederate, 3 = heavy) |
| HSMG | Hectares of small grain on the quarter | : | Measured by polar planimeter from cover map |
| HFARM | Hectares of farmstead on the quarter | : | |
| HPAS | Hectarcs of pasture on the quarter | : | |
| HFALO | Hectares of fallow on the quarter | : | |
| HROAD | Hectares of road ide on the quarter | : | |
| HTREE | Hectares of treeland on the quarter | : | |
| HCOR | Hectards of corm on the quarter | : | |
| KALF | Hectares of alfalfa on the quarter | ; | |
| HHAY | Hestares of hayland on the quarter | | |

Table 1. List of independent variables and explanations for multivariate analysis. The mnemonic form will be used to refer to the variables in tables of the Appendices

'

ï

•

| Hnemonic . | Independent Variable | Explanation |
|--------------|--|--|
| Dominant Eng | ergents: | |
| ELE | Spikerush (<u>Eleocharis sop</u>) | : O < absent, 1 = present if among the duminant emergents. (<u>Saggittaria spp</u> . is the reference category.) |
| SCF | River bulrush <u>(Scirous fluviatilis)</u> | : |
| SCS | Roundstem bulrush (<u>Scirpus acutur</u> and <u>S. validus</u>) | : |
| TYP | Cattail (<u>Typha latifolia</u> and <u>T. angustifolia)</u> | : |
| CAR | Sedge (Carex, spp.) | : |
| POL | Smartweed (Polygonum spp.) | : |
| Wetland Ass | ociation Variab ¹ es: | |
| NWC | Number of wetland classes on the quarter | Variables obtained from the quarter sections on which stock ponds were located. |
| NASW | Number of artificial wetlands with surface water | : Artificial means dugouts and stock ponds |
| HSWA | Hectares of surface water of artificial wetlands | : Calculated from previous information |
| NNSW | Number of natural watlands with surface water | : Natural means natural ponds and lakes (Stewart and Kantrud 1971) |
| HSWN | Hectares of surface water of natural wetlands | s. |
| NOW | Number of wetlands with open water | : |
| ночв | Hectares of open water of other wetlands | : |
| NDB | Number of dry basins | : |
| TSLD | Total shoreline distance of other wetlands | : |
| DWBMC | Distance to nearest wet basin | : 1 = 0 to 99 meters, 2 = 100 m to 199 m, 3 = 200 m to 299 m, 4 = 300 m to 399 m, 5 = 400 m to 499 m, 6 \times 500 m to 599 m, 7 = 600 m to 699 m, 8 = 700 m to 799 m, 9 = 800 h or more neters. |
| Disturbance | Variables: | |
| DNRMC | Distance to nearest highway | : same as above. |
| DOFMC | Distance to nearest occuppied farmstead | : same as above. |
| Physiograph | nic Strata: | |
| D4 | Nissouri Coteau | : O = absent, I = presence of stock pond in the particular strata; dumny variables used to account for the uncommon variance of stock pond variables between strata. The Southern Plateau is the reference category bycause discriminant analysis showed ponds in this strata to be least extreme in variability. |
| D5 | Northern Plateau | : |
| D6 | Pierre Hills | : |
| Other Varia | ables : | |
| TIME | Census time of day (24 hour system) | : |
| TEMP | Air temperature in degrees celsius | : |
| RAIN | Presence (1) or absence (0) of rain | : |

Table 1 (continued). List of Eulependent variables and explanations for multivariate analysis. The wneepende form will be used to refer to the variables in tubles of the Appendices.

of computing simple correlation coefficients (r) between all habitat variables (the independent variables), and numbers of indicated breeding pairs (the dependent variable). Independent variables are then entered, one at a time, into a linear regression equation in the order in which each variable, when combined with previously entered variables, reduces the residual variance about the least squares regression line the most. An F test was then applied to examine the statistical significance of each step in reducing this residual variance. At the conclusion of the analysis, a reduced set of significant habitat variables, known as the multiple linear regression equation, is obtained which accounts for a proportion of the variance in the dependent variable.

Careful interpretation of multiple regression results is necessary in order not to be misled. The value of the linear equation in explaining response by breeding pairs is indicated by the proportion of variance of the dependent variable accounted for by the set of independent variables. This proportion is known as the coefficient of determination (R^2) (Snedecor and Cochran 1967). Once the importance of this set of variables has been determined, the individual contributions of the variables can be examined. The magnitude of the simple correlation coefficients indicate how closely associated the independent variables are with the dependent variable. The sign (+ or -) of the simple correlation coefficient indicates the direction of the association when no other independent variables are considered. The magnitude of the standardized regression coefficients indicates the relative effect the independent variable would have on the dependent variable when all independent variables in the linear equation are considered together. The sign (+ or -) of the standardized partial regression coefficient indicates the direction of change in the dependent variable when all the independent variables are considered together. The sign of the simple correlation coefficient may not be the same as the sign of the partial regression coefficient due to intercorrelations between previously entered variables. Interpretation of the sign of the partial regression coefficients should be made carefully in view of the simple correlation sign and intercorrelations among independent variables.

Stepwise discriminant analysis was used to distinguish between waterfowl species based on habitat variables utilized (Morrison 1967). The analysis was also used to differentiate between ponds used by pairs and ponds not used by pairs of the same species. Discriminant analysis has been used for similar purposes in ecological bird studies by other researchers (James 1971, Whitmore 1975).

The analysis consists of entering habitat variables, one at a time, into a linear function based on improvement in discrimination. Variables which maximize the variance between groups are entered successively until all the variables are in each discriminant function. Discriminant functions are linear combinations of the habitat variables. The number of functions derived equals one less than the number of groups to be differentiated.

Even though all habitat variables are eventually entered into the

function, only a few are necessary. The number of variables used can be truncated at the point where addition of one more variable does not significantly improve the differentiation between groups based on change in Rao's V statistic (Klecka 1975).

The merit of the reduced set of significant variables in distinguishing between groups is indicated by the number of ponds correctly classified. High percentages of correctly classified ponds indicates that the significant variables give good separation of groups; conversely, low percentages indicate poor separation.

Once the value of the discriminant functions has been determined, the relative importance of the individual variables may be established based on the standardized discriminant function coefficients. These coefficients are interpreted with the same care as the multiple regression coefficients.

Since the discriminant functions may be thought of as orthogonal axes in geometric space, spatial relationships between groups, known as an ordination, can be more easily understood (Klecka 1975). An ordination of the first two discriminant functions was used to clarify the relationship between variables and waterfowl species. Discrimination between early-and mid- or late-nesting ducks would not be valid because seasonal differences rather than differences in habitat preferences would discriminate between the two groups.

Stepwise multiple regression and stepwise discriminant analysis are based on the assumptions (1) that residual variances of the variables within each stratum are normally and independently distributed with a mean of zero and common variance, (2) that the independent and dependent variables are measured without error, and (3) that the true relationships between the dependent and independent variables are linear. The first assumption was accepted without testing.

The second assumption implies strict homogeneity of error variances. Measurement error did occur but differences in subjective judgments between the two crews between years was negligible. Each crew member had previous experience collecting data with members of the other crew. Meetings were held prior to the censuses to clarify and unify data collecting methods. Also, one person remained on the census team all four years which standardized the data.

The third assumption that the true relationship between the independent and dependent variable is linear may not be a valid assumption for certain variables. Most animal populations tend to be limited over time by environmental constraints other than living space, i.e. food, cover, weather, disease. Therefore, an increase in living space does not necessarily lead to an increase in numbers of individuals. Lokemoen (1972) has shown that pairs per pond increase at a decreasing rate with surface water area.

Variables such as surface area, shoreline distance, pond age and time of day were analyzed for deviation from a linear relationship by polynomial regression. The true relationship between breeding pairs and these variables may be illustrated by fitting a curve to pair response. Only those ponds with pairs using them were analyzed by polynomial regression because we were more interested in determining

324775 SOUTH DAKOTA STATE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

the response by additional pairs rather than explaining why pairs did or did not use certain ponds. Discriminant and multiple regression analyses were run on all wet ponds to indicate why pairs did or did not use ponds.

Polynomial regression analysis involves fitting a least squares line or curve to the response variable by successively entering higher degree polynomials. The linear relationship is given by the first degree polynomial, X. Successively higher degree polynomials, i.e. X^2 , X^3 , X^4 , etc., yield successively more complex curvilinear relationships. The process is continued until the succeeding polynomial does not significantly reduce the residual error about the least squares curve. At this point the curve significantly fits the true relationship. The proportion of variance of the dependent variable (R^2) is interpretted in the same manner as in multiple linear regression.

Homogeneity of variance in independent variables was tested to determine if stock ponds located in the four physiographic strata could be pooled and considered a single sample. Multiple regression and discriminant analyses are robust procedures which do not require strict homogeneity in order to obtain unbiased results. Heterogeneity was small enough that strata were pooled. Dummy variables were added to account for some of this unexplained strata variance.

Ponds were pooled across years and considered a different sample each year. Effects of year on stock pond variables were assumed to be random from 1973 to 1976. Pooling of ponds within strata and years greatly simplified the analysis and increased the sample size.

All statistical analyses were conducted using the digital computer located at the Computing Center, South Dakota State University. Statistical programs used were subprograms from the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (Nie et al. 1975).

-

RESULTS

Mallard

Eight variables accounted for 26 percent (R^2) of the variation in numbers of indicated mallard pairs using stock ponds (Table 2). Shoreline distance accounted for more of this variation than any other variable. Mallard pairs per pond increased with increasing shoreline distance and taller emergent vegetation but decreased with increasing grazing intensity.

Stepwise discriminant analysis differentiated between used and unused ponds based on nine variables which correctly classified 61 percent of the ponds used by mallard pairs (Table 3). Shoreline distance was the best discriminating variable. Mallard pairs tended to occur on ponds with longer shoreline. The mean shoreline distance on which one or more pairs were observed ($\overline{X} = 584$ m) was twice as large as the mean shoreline distance of ponds not used ($\overline{X} = 265$ m). Ponds located in the Missouri Coteau or on plots with farmsteads were more likely to have mallard pairs. Pairs tended to be absent from ponds located on plots with a greater diversity of wetland types.

Wetland habitat variables were the most important group of variables associated with breeding mallard pairs (Appendix D). Simple correlation coefficients (r) indicated that emergent vegetation cover type and kinds were important but were not significant in either regression or discriminant functions. Mallard pairs were positively

| TABLE 2. | Summary table of conditions results of multiple convession analysis, 1973 - 1976. Variables |
|----------|---|
| | are listed in order of entry in accounting for successive maximum variability in pairs. |
| | Standardized partial repression coefficients are listed for those variables which were |
| | significant (A:P=0.05) and (E:P=0.005) in reducing the error sum of squares at each step. |

| Independent variables | Coefficient of determination (R ²) | Simple correlation coefficient (r) | Standard <u>regressio</u> A | ized partial n coefficient B |
|--|---|---|-----------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| MALLARD | | | V | |
| Shoreline distance | 0.1478 | 0.3845 | 0.7159 | 0.7066 |
| Ha of surface water | 0.1828 | 0.2414 | -0.3954 | -0.3510 |
| Grazing intensity | 0.2060 | -0.1243 | -0.1543 | -0.1538 |
| Ha of open water of other wetlands on the plot | 0.2210 | -0.1631 | -0.1148 | |
| Emergent vegetation height | 0.2323 | 0.2437 | 0.2020 | |
| Depth rating 1 | 0.2426 | -0.0739 | -0.1014 | |
| Percent open water | 0.2523 | -0.0896 | 0.1263 | |
| Ha of fallow on the plot | 0.2623 | 0.0069 | -0.1057 | |
| PINTAIL | | | | |
| Ha of pond basin | 0.0901 | 0.3001 | 1.8158 | 1.9821 |
| Missouri coteau | 0.1647 | 0.2867 | 0.1731 | 0. 1981 |
| Ha of surface water | 0.1987 | 0.2046 | -1. 7689 | -1.6470 |
| Ha of farmstead on the $p^{1}ct$ | 0.2450 | 0.0786 | -0.3627 | -0.4031 |
| Percent surface water | 0.2808 | -0.0402 | 0.1804 | 0. 2038 |
| Cover type 2 | 0.2966 | 0.1673 | 0.1457 | 0.1311 |
| Ha of pond open water | 0.3066 | 0.2441 | 0.3158 | |
| Grazing intensity | 0.3164 | -0.0517 | -0.1388 | |
| Ha of pasture on the plot | 0.3244 | -0.0161 | 0.1012 | |
| Number of dry basins on the plot | 0.3320 | 0.2817 | 0.0996 | |
| BLUF-WINGED TEAL | | | | |
| Shoreline distance | 0, 3211 | 0.5666 | 0.5185 | 0.5286 |
| <u>Carex</u> spp. | 0. 3603 | 0.2698 | 0.1821 | 0.1702 |
| Ha of farmstead on the plot | 0.3847 | 0.0115 | -0.2928 | -0.2855 |
| Ha of pond basin | 0.4046 | 0.5214 | 0.5370 | 0.5004 |
| Ha of pond open water | 0.4259 | 0.5002 | -0.4540 | -0.43.10 |
| He of surface water of natural wetlands on the plot | 0.4476 | 0.1928 | 0.1583 | 0.1555 |
| Scirpus validus and S. acutus | 0.4616 | 0.3507 | 0.1096 | 0.1303 |
| Eleocharis spp. | 0.4690 | 0.0847 | 0.0901 | |
| GADWALL | | | | |
| Carex spp. | 0,1287 | 0.3587 | 0.3027 | 0. 3027 |
| Ha of pond open water | 0.1847 | 0.2701 | 0.6702 | 0.6702 |
| Number of dry basins on the plot | 0.2376 | 0.2512 | 0.2410 | 0.2410 |
| Ha of pond surface water | 0.2689 | 0.1669 | -0.4.195 | -0.4495 |
| Cover typu 2 | 0.2877 | 0. 1452 | 0.1538 | 0.1538 |
| Distance to nearest famestead | 0. 3095 | C.C779 | 0.1544 | 0.1544 |

TABLE 2. (continued)

AMERICAN WIGEON

| Carex spp. | 0.0477 | 0.21R3 | 0.2109 | 0.1892 |
|---|--------|----------|---------|---------|
| Scirpus validus and S. acutus | 0.0767 | 0.2118 | 0.2223 | 0.2182 |
| Cover type 3 | 0.1014 | -0.0347 | -0.1583 | -0.1635 |
| <u>Polygonum</u> <u>spp</u> . | 0.1131 | -0.0524 | -0.1072 | |
| Northern plateau | 0.1235 | 0.1111 | 0.1026 | |
| NORTHERN SHOVELER | | | | |
| Ha of pond basin | 0.1233 | 0.3512 | 0.6786 | 0.3913 |
| Carex spp. | 0.2157 | 0.3224 | U.2593 | 0.2855 |
| Ha of farmstead on the plot | 0.2424 | -0.0113 | -0.2479 | -0.1702 |
| Depth rating 5 | 0.2648 | 0. 1731 | 0.1291 | 0.1520 |
| Ha of surface water of natural wetlands on the plot | 0.2844 | 0. 1892 | 0.2577 | 0.1411 |
| Number of natural wetlands with surface water on the plot | 0.2989 | -0. 0231 | -0.1587 | |
| <u>Scirpus fluviatilis</u> | 0.3159 | -0.0243 | -0.1909 | |
| Hectares of pond open water | 0.3273 | 0.3029 | -0.2865 | |
| Scirpus validus and S. acutus | 0.3403 | 0.2270 | 0.1209 | |
| Ha of small grain on the plot | 0.3479 | 0.0348 | 0.0689 | |
| GREEN-WINGED TEAL | | | | |
| Ha of pond basin | 0.0421 | 0.2052 | 0.1306 | 0.1588 |
| Ha of fallow on the plot | 0.0747 | 0.1874 | 0.1518 | 0.1769 |
| Scirpus validus and S. acutus | 0.0972 | 0. 2026 | 0.1521 | 0.1552 |
| Scirpus fluviatilis | 0.1141 | 0.1968 | 0.1408 | |
| Number of dry basins on the plot | 0.1282 | 0.1213 | 0.1194 | |

| | Nurber of | Percent of cases correctly | centroids in reduced | : | Discriminating d | Standardized iscriminant function | Group Hear (A) and v Indicated pairs pr | ns without with (B) breeding resent |
|------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|---|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|
| Groups | cases | classified | space | : | variables | coefficients | - <u>A</u> | 8 |
| Ponds with Mallard | 158 | 61.4 | 0.5816 | | Shoreline Distance | 1.2986 | 266.00 | 584.00 |
| Ponds without Mallard | 213 | 85.4 | -0.4314 | | Ha of open water of other wetlands on t plot | -0.2293 he | 0.39 | 0. 20 |
| Total | 371 | 75.2 | | | Ha of pond surface water | -1.7588 | 0.44 | 1.25 |
| | | | | | Number of wetland classes on the plot | -0. 4391 | 1.57 | 1.14 |
| | | | | | Missouri coteau | D.2828 | 0.12 | 0.17 |
| | | | | | Ha of farmstead on plot | the -0. 5227 | 0.19 | 2.42 |
| | | | | | Distance to nearest road | -0.2214 | 8.57 | 7.96 |
| | | | | | Ha of posd basin | 1.1378 | 0.59 | 1.66 |
| | | | | | Depth rating 2 | 0.2397 | | |
| Pords with Pintail | 65 | ċ6.2 | -1.0337 | | Ha of pond basin | -1.1919 | 0.73 | 2.51 |
| Ponds without Pintail | 306 | 98.4 | 0. 2196 | | Missouri coteau | -0.4279 | 0.10 | 0.34 |
| Total | 371 | 87.1 | | | Census time of day | 0.2051 | 14.59 | 13.23 |
| | | | | | Grazing intensity | 0.2510 | 2.01 | 1.84 |
| | | | | | <u>Scirpus validus</u> and <u>5. acutus</u> | -0.2208 | 0.09 | 0.25 |
| | | | | | Cover type 3 | 0.2482 | 0.09 | 0.06 |
| | | | | | Number of dry basin on the plot | ns -0.2058 | 0.55 | 1. 34 |
| | | | | | Percent surface was | ter -0.2658 | 74.46 | 75.62 |
| | | | | | Ha of pond surface water | 0.5736 | 0.57 | 1.79 |
| Ponds with Blu | ue- 109 | 55.0 | -0.8411 | | Shoreline distance | -1.1718 | 284.00 | 679.00 |
| Winged Teal Ponds without | 246 | 92.3 | 0. 3726 | | Emergent vegetatio height | n -0.2986 | 20.00 | 48.00 |
| Winged Teal | | | | | Missouri coteau | -0.2096 | 0. 11 | 0.22 |
| Total | 355 | 80.9 | | | Ha of pond surface water | 0.6413 | 0.47 | 1.55 |
| | | | | | Eleocharis app. | -0.2135 | 0.17 | 0, 30 |
| | | | | | Southern plateau | -0. 1801 | 0.11 | 0.20 |
| | | | | | Number of artifici wetlands with surf water on the plot | al 0.1731 Sace | 0.76 | 0.45 |
| | | | | | Ha of surface wate of natural wetland the plot | er -0.1955 Is on | 0.09 | 0.49 |
| | | | | | Ha of farmstead or plot | n th a 0.1774 | 0.10 | 3.62 |

,

TABLE 3. Major discriminating vertables as indicated by discriminant analysis between pands with no indicated pairs and points with at least one pair, 1473 - 1976. All variables were significant (P.0.05) in discriminating based on change in Wao's V at each step.

÷.,

TABLE J. (continued)

| Temperature Ha of road of Gadwall Ponds without 300 98.0 0.1835 water Gadwall | -0.1403 on the plot -0.1416 open water -1.5272 surface 1.0364 teau -0.4212 <u>idus</u> and -0.2321 | 21.70 0.20 0.52 0.69 0.12 0.14 | 22.50 0.31 1.18 1.39 0.27 | |
|---|---|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Ponds with 55 74.5 -1.0008 Ha of road of Gadwall Ha of pond s Badwall Ha of pond s Ponds without 300 98.0 0.1835 water Gadwall | on the plot -0.1416 open water -1.5272 surface 1.0364 teau -0.4212 idus and -0.2321 | 0.20 0.52 0.69 0.12 0.14 | 0.31 1.18 1.39 0.27 | |
| Ponds with 55 74.5 -1.0008 Ha of pond of Gadwall Ha of pond of Ponds without 300 98.0 0.1835 water Gadwall | open water -1.5272 surface 1.0364 teau -0.4212 <u>idus</u> and -0.2321 | 0.52 0.69 0.12 0.14 | 1. 18 1.39 0.27 | |
| Ponds without 300 98.0 0.1835 water Gadwall | surface 1.0364 teau -0.4212 <u>idus</u> and -0.2321 | 0.69 0.12 0.14 | 1.39 0.27 | |
| | teau -0.4212 i <u>dus</u> and -0.2321 | 0.12 0.14 | 0 27 | |
| Total 355 BE B | <u>idus</u> and -0.2321 | 0.14 | 0.27 | |
| <u>Scirpus val</u> <u>S. acutus</u> | | •••• | 0.33 | * |
| Distance to farmstead | nearest -0.4336 | 8.22 | 8.65 | |
| Northern pl | ateau -0.3120 | 0.21 | 0.29 | |
| Ha of road n | on the plot -0.2811 | 0.22 | 0.29 | |
| Cover type | 2 -0.2400 | 0.15 | 0.27 | |
| Ponds with 26 84.6 1.2195 <u>Scirpus val</u> American kigeon <u>5. acutus</u> | idus and 0.7231 | 0.15 | 0.46 | |
| Ponds without 329 99.1 -0.0964 Cover type | 3 -0.4703 | 0.10 | 0.00 | |
| Total 255 02 a | 0.5231 | 0.01 | 0.12 | |
| Polygonum s | <u>pp.</u> -0. 317 9 | 0.04 | 0.00 | |
| Ha of treel the plut | and on 0.2764 | 0.31 | 1.61 | |
| Ponds with 14 50.0 -2.8493 Ha of pond ³ | basin -0.5643 | 0.95 | 4.15 | |
| Ponde without 311 97.7 0 1170 Carex spp. | -0.4144 | 0.01 | 0.21 | |
| Northern Shoveler Depth ratin | g 5 -0.4221 | 0.00 | 0.07 | |
| Total 355 55.8 Ha of surfa natural wet the plot | ce water of -0.5280 lands on | 0.15 | 1.11 | |
| Ha of farms the plot | tead on 0.2499 | 1.23 | 0.00 | |
| Number of n lands with on the plot | atural wet- 0.3144 surface water | 0.68 | 0.64 | |
| <u>Scirpus</u> flu | viatilis 0.2537 | 0.02 | 0.00 | |
| Ha of small on the plot | grain on -0.2177 | 2.14 | 5.18 | |
| Typha spp. | -0.2546 | 0.15 | 0.50 | |
| Cover type | 3 0.2032 | 0. 09 | 0.14 | |
| Ponds with Green- 11 27.3 -1.7006 Emergent ve Winged Teal height | egotation -0.6324 | 27.58 | 66.73 | |
| Ponds without 344 98.3 0.0546 Number of a Green-Winged Teal the plot | dry basins on -0.5092 | 0.83 | 2.18 | |
| Total 355 96.1 Cover type | 3 0, 5036 | 0.09 | 0.09 | |
| Shoreline 1 | Distance -0.4714 | 391.00 | 842.00 | |
| Census tinn | c of day 0. 3161 | 14. 22 | 11.98 | |

Þ

•

correlated with ponds dominated by roundstem bulrush <u>(Scirpus acutus</u> and <u>S</u>. <u>validus</u>) and cattail <u>(Typha</u> spp.) in scattered dense patches or diffuse open stands.

The negative sign of the regression and discriminant coefficients indicated that numbers and occurrences of pairs decreased with increasing surface area. This was not the case. Intercorrelation between surface water area and shoreline distance (r = 0.87) caused regression and discriminant coefficients to be negative. Surface water area was significantly (P<0.01) and positively correlated (r = 0.24) with mallard pairs.

Surface water area accounted for only six percent (R²) of the variation in mallard pairs (Figure 2). This low percentage of shared variance and gentle sloping curve could account for the relative stability in numbers and density of pairs over the four years while surface water area varied considerably (Appendix C). Densities of mallard pairs fluctuated less from year to year than densities of bluewinged teal, American wigeons, northern shovelers, and green-winged teal.

Mallard pairs used ponds that averaged 1.25 ha in surface area. This mean was significantly (P<0.005) different from the mean surface area of ponds not used (0.44 ha). Mallard pairs used smaller ponds more efficiently in terms of pairs per unit area.

Mallards were the only species significantly fitted by a curve on pond age (Figure 3). Pond age accounted for more of the variation $(R^2 = 0.12)$ in mallard pairs than did surface water area. Ponds older than 16 years were used less by mallard pairs.



Figure 2. Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of mallards on surface water area, 1973 - 1976.



ŧ

Figure 3. Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of mallards on pond age, 1973 - 1976.

Census time of day accounted for as much variation in mallard pairs as did surface water area (Figure 4). Pair use was greatest before 0700 Central Daylight Time and least after 1900 CDT. The linear relationship was not significant and did not represent the true relationship between time of day and response by pairs. The curvilinear response of pairs to time of day explained why time of day did not enter the multiple regression equation or discriminant functions as a significant variable.

Pintail

Ten variables accounted for 33 percent (R^2) of the variation in numbers of indicated pintail pairs per pond (Table 2). The first five variables accounted for 28 percent of the variation. As basin area and open water area increased, numbers of pairs per pond increased. Pintail pairs were most abundant on ponds in the Missouri Coteau with scattered dense patches or diffuse open stands of emergents (cover type 2).

Nine variables correctly classified 66 percent of the ponds with pintail pairs present (Table 3). Discriminant analysis also indicated that more pintail pairs were observed on larger basins. Mean basin area of ponds used was 2.51 ha compared to 0.73 ha for ponds not used. Pintail pairs tended to be present on ponds located in the Missouri Coteau with roundstem bulrush as a dominant emergent but were absent on ponds intensively grazed or with a peripheral band of emergents surrounding the shore.


The number and area of natural ponds on the plot were positively associated with the number of pairs using stock ponds (Appendix D). Pairs were positively correlated with diversity of wetlands and number of dry basins on the plot.

Surface water area was significantly (P<0.01) and positively correlated (r = 0.20) with pintail pair abundance but the sign of the regression and discriminant coefficients indicated that numbers of pairs decreased with increasing surface area. Regression and discriminant coefficient signs were not the same as the sign of the simple correlation coefficient because of intercorrelations with previously entered variables. Pintail pairs used ponds with a mean surface area of 1.79 ha while ponds not used averaged significantly (P<0.005) lower (\overline{X} = 0.57 ha). A curve fitting pintail pair response to surface water area was similar to the curve fitting response by mallard pairs (Figure 5).

Numbers of pintail pairs per pond increased with increasing shoreline irregularity (Figure 6). Pintail pairs responded linearly and positively to increasing shoreline development. Shoreline distance did not enter either the discriminant or regression equations due to correlation with previously entered variables.

Blue-winged teal

Eight variables accounted for 47 percent (R^2) of the variance in blue-winged teal pair abundance (Table 2). Shoreline distance alone accounted for 32 percent (R^2) of the variance in pairs. Numbers of



Figure 5. Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of pintails on surface water area, 1973 - 1976.



Figure 6.

blue-winged teal pairs increased with increasing shoreline distance and basin area. Presence of sedges (Carex spp.), roundstem bulrush, and spikerush (Eleocharis spp.) on the ponds was positively associated with use by more pairs. Pairs were less abundant on ponds located on plots with large farmsteads. Discriminant and regression coefficients for pond open water area were negative due to intercorrelations.

Twelve variables correctly classified 55 percent of the ponds which had at least one pair of blue-winged teal present (Table 3). Pairs were present on ponds with mean shoreline distance (\overline{X} = 597 m) twice as large as the mean shoreline distance of ponds not used (\overline{X} = 274, P<0.005). Numbers of pairs per pond increased with increasing emergent vegetation height. Ponds located in the Missouri Coteau and Southern Plateau were used more than ponds in the other two strata. Pairs tended not to use ponds where the number of other artificial basins on the plot was large and where farmsteads were large.

Emergent vegetation height and kinds were more highly correlated with blue-winged teal pairs than for mallard and pintail pairs (Appendix D). Blue-winged teal pairs were negatively correlated (r) with numbers and area of surface water of artificial wetlands but were positively correlated (r) with area of surface water of natural wetlands on the plot. Upland habitat variables were not significantly correlated with pair use.

Shoreline distance per unit surface area accounted for 13 percent

 (R^2) of the variance in blue-winged teal pairs (Figure 6). The fitted line was significant (P<0.01) and positively related to use by more pairs.

Blue-winged teal pairs were more highly correlated (r = 0.54) with surface water area than any of the other variables except shoreline distance. Surface water area did not enter the regression equation due to correlations with previously entered variables. Likewise, intercorrelations caused surface area in the discriminant function to be related to ponds not used by pairs. Blue-winged teal pairs were positively related to ponds with greater surface area. The mean surface area of ponds with blue-winged teal present was 1.54 ha. The mean surface area of ponds without teal (\overline{X} = 0.47 ha) was significantly (P<0.005) smaller than those with teal.

Surface water area accounted for 30 percent (R^2) of the variation in blue-winged teal abundance (Figure 7). This high percentage and steep slope may explain the greater fluctuation in total numbers of blue-winged teal pairs observed on stock ponds over the four years (Table 1, Appendix C).

More blue-winged teal were observed from mid-morning (0900) to early afternoon (1500) than during any other part of the day. This is consistent with discriminant analysis results which indicated that temperature was an important variable associated with ponds having at least one pair of blue-winged teal. Higher temperatures corresponded with time of day when peak numbers of pairs were observed on ponds. Temperature and time were significantly (P<0.01, r = 0.17) correlated with each other.



¥

Gadwall

Six variables accounted for 31 percent of the variation in gadwall pair abundance (Table 2). The presence of sedges was the single best variable explaining gadwall pair use. Ponds having sedges and emergents scattered in dense patches or diffuse open stands (cover type 2) were used by more pairs than ponds without emergents. As pond open water area increased, numbers of pairs per pond increased.

Discrimination between ponds with gadwall pairs and ponds without pairs was good using eight variables (Table 3). Seventy-five percent of the ponds used by pairs were correctly classified. Pairs tended to be present on ponds with more open water area ($\overline{X} = 1.18$ ha). Ponds located in the Missouri Coteau and Northern Plateau were more likely to have gadwall pairs than ponds in the other two strata.

Wetland diversity and surface area of natural ponds near stock ponds are potentially important variables positively correlated (r) with numbers of gadwall pairs per pond (Appendix D). However, these variables did not enter either the regression or discriminant functions as statistically significant.

The sign of the regression and discriminant coefficients for surface water area indicated that numbers of pairs decreased with increasing surface area. Again, this was due to intercorrelations with previously entered variables. Gadwall pairs were positively correlated (r = 0.17) with surface area. The mean surface area of ponds on which at least one pair of gadwall was observed was 1.39 ha. This was significantly (P<0.005) greater than the mean surface area

of ponds lacking gadwall pairs. Again, smaller ponds were increasingly more efficient in amount of surface area utilized (Figure 8).

Unlike pintail and blue-winged teal pairs, gadwall pairs responded non-linearly to increasing shoreline development (Figure 6). The cubic relationship was significant (P<0.01) and accounted for 22 percent of the variation in gadwall pairs. Pairs were most abundant on ponds with shoreline development of about 2.2. Ponds with twice the shoreline distance necessary to just enclose the surface water area were used by more gadwall pairs than ponds with greater or less shoreline development.

American wigeon

Five variables accounted for 12 percent (R^2) of the variation in pair abundance using multiple regression analysis (Table 2). The presence of sedges and roundstem bulrushes on the pond accounted for most of this variation. Pairs were more abundant on ponds where these emergents were dominant. Pairs were absent on ponds with a peripheral band of emergents.

Eighty-five percent of the ponds having American wigeon pairs were correctly classified using five variables (Table 3). Pairs were observed on ponds having roundstem bulrush and sedges as dominant emergents but were absent from ponds with a peripheral band of emergents. Pairs tended to occur on ponds located on plots with treeland.

American wigeon pairs were least like pairs of any other species

33

Contraction of the second statements



7

Figure 8. Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of gadwall on surface water area, 1973 - 1976.

in terms of the kinds of independent variables which were significantly correlated with numbers of pairs per pond (Appendix D). Wetland and upland habitat variables were not significantly correlated with pairs. Pond open water area and emergents in scattered dense patches or diffuse open stands (cover type 2) were the only wetland habitat variables correlated with pair abundance.

American wigeon pairs were positively correlated with number of natural ponds in the vicinity of the stock pond but were negatively correlated with numbers of artificial basins in the same area (Appendix D). Pairs were positively correlated with ponds located in the Northern Plateau.

Surface water area was not significantly correlated with numbers of pairs per pond (Appendix D) nor was it significant in either multiple regression or discriminant functions. However, a curve significantly (P<0.05) explained pair response on surface water area (Figure 9). Pairs were not observed on ponds larger than 5 ha in surface area. There was no significant difference in the surface area of ponds used by pairs (1.08 ha) and surface area of ponds not used (0.77 ha). Ponds with surface area less than 1.0 ha had higher numbers and densities of pairs than ponds between 1.0 ha and 2.0 ha in surface area.

Northern shoveler

Ten variables accounted for 35 percent (R²) of the variation in abundance of northern shoveler pairs (Table 2). Pond basin area accounted for more of this variation than any other variable. Numbers



ł

Figure 9. Polynomial regression of indicated pairs of American wigeon on surface water area, 1973 - 1976. \Im

of pairs per pond increased with increasing basin area. Pairs were more abundant on ponds with sedges and roundstem bulrush than on ponds with river bulrush (Scirpus fluviatilis). Pairs per pond increased with increasing surface area of natural wetlands on the plot but decreased with increasing numbers of natural wetlands and area of farmsteads.

The discriminant analysis results showed the same trend as multiple regression results with pairs present on ponds with larger basin area (\overline{X} = 4.15 ha). Fifty percent of the ponds used by indicated pairs were correctly classified using 10 variables. Ponds used tended to have sedges and cattail but not river bulrush. Pairs tended to occur on ponds located on plots with more surface area of natural wetlands (\overline{X} = 1.15 ha versus 0.15 ha) than on ponds not used. Ponds located on plots with larger area of small grain but smaller farmsteads tended to have pairs present.

Correlation coefficients (r) were significant (P<0.01) for nearly the same set of independent variables as were gadwall pairs (Appendix D). Northern shoveler pairs were negatively correlated with number of artificial wetlands but were positively correlated with number of natural wetlands on the same plots. The larger the surface area of these natural wetlands the more northern shoveler pairs were present on stock ponds. Pairs were also positively correlated with ponds located in the Missouri Coteau. Missouri Coteau stock ponds were positively correlated with greater wetland diversity (r = 0.43) and greater number of dry basins (r = 0.40) (Appendix E).

Surface water area accounted for a greater proportion of the

variation ($R^2 = 0.54$) in numbers of northern shoveler pairs per pond than for any other species using polynomial regression (Figure 10). Yet, surface area did not enter either the linear regression or discriminant functions due to intercorrelations with such variables as pond basin area (r = 0.92). Hectares of surface water would have entered as the best variable accounting for more variation in pair use than any other had hectares of pond basin been omitted from the analysis. Mean size of ponds used (3.15 ha) was significantly different (P<0.005) from the mean surface area of ponds not used (0.70 ha). The mean surface area of ponds used was larger than the mean for any other waterfowl species studied.

1.5

Green-winged teal

Five variables accounted for 13 percent (R^2) of the variation in green-winged teal pair abundance (Table 2). All five were positively correlated with numbers of pairs. Numbers of green-winged teal pairs per pond increased with increasing basin area and area of fallow on the plot.

Five variables correctly classified 27 percent of the ponds used by green-winged teal pairs (Table 3). Pairs used ponds with emergent vegetation twice as tall as the mean vegetation height of ponds with pairs absent. On the average, green-winged teal pairs used ponds with three times as many dry natural basins on the plot as the number of dry basins associated with ponds not used. Mean shoreline distance of ponds with pairs present ($\overline{X} = 842$ m) was twice as large

38

1



7



g

as the mean distance of ponds not used (\overline{X} = 391 m, P<0.005).

Number of pairs was significantly correlated (r = 0.17) with surface water area (Appendix D) but was not a significant variable in either the regression or discriminant functions. Pair response on surface water area could not be significantly (P<0.05) fitted by a curve.

Early-nesting species

Discriminant analysis was used to distinguish between ponds used by mallard pairs and ponds used by pintail pairs. Six variables correctly classified 91 percent of the ponds with mallard pairs present and 26 percent of the ponds with pintail pairs present (Table 4). Pintail pairs tended to occur on ponds with a greater diversity of associated wetlands than did mallard pairs. Pintail pairs also occurred on larger basins than mallard pairs. Mean basin area of ponds used by pintail pairs ($\overline{X} = 2.51$ ha) was significantly (P<0.05) different from the mean basin area of ponds used by mallard pairs ($\overline{X} = 1.66$ ha). Ponds located further from farmsteads tended to have more mallard pairs and fewer pintail pairs. Pintail pairs were less likely to be present on ponds with the shoreline obscurred by a dense band of peripheral emergent vegetation.

Mid- and late-nesting species

Discrimination was not good between ponds utilized by different species of mid- and late-nesting ducks (Table 5). Overall, 50 percent

| Groups | Clumber of Crises | Percent of cases correctly classified | Centroids in reduced space | : : Discriminating : variables | Standardized discriminant function coefficients |
|--------------------|-------------------------|---|----------------------------------|--|---|
| Ponds with mailard | 158 | 90.5 | 0.2044 | Number of wetland classes on the plot | -0.8497 |
| Ponds wilh pintail | 65 | 26.2 | -0.4969 | | |
| Total | 223 | 71.8 | | Distance to nearest farms | tead 0.2552 |
| | | | | Number of artificial weth with surface water on the | ands 0.3450 plot |
| | | | | Cover type 3 | 0.3683 |
| | | | | Ha of pond basin | -0.3551 |
| | | | | Depth rating 1 | -0.2830 |

lable 4. Discriminant analysis between ponds with one or more indicated pairs of mallard and ponds with one or more indicated pairs of pintail, 1973 - 1976. All variables were significant (P<0.10) using Rao's V.

ž

| Sroups | Number of rases | Percent of cases correctly classified | Centroids in reduced space A R | | : : Discriminating : variables | Standardized discriminant function <u>coefficients</u> A B | |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------|---|---|---------|--|---|----------------|
| onds with blue-winge | | | | | | | |
| tcal | 110 | 82.7 | -0.0818 | 0.3076 | Percent of the shoreline grazed | 0.1020 | -0.5139 |
| nnds with gadwall | 56 | 25.0 | 0. 3095 | -0.2554 | Ha of pond basin | 0 2606 | 0 1254 |
| onds with American wigeon | 27 | 0,0 | 0.4406 | -0.3430 | Depth rating 5 | -0.4673 | -0.0588 |
| onds with northern shoveler | 14 | 28.6 | -1.1631 | -0.6728 | Southern Plateau | -0.0110 | 0. 5992 |
| rends with green-wing teal | ed 11 | 9.1 | -0.3592 | -0.0776 | Ha of surface water of | -0.4013 | 0.4013 -0.0356 |
| lotal | 218 | 50.46 | | | plot | | |
| | | | | | Depth rating 4 | -0.4101 | -0.0948 |
| | | | | | Depth rating 1 | -0.3435 | -0.0613 |
| | | | | | Temperature | -0.3958 | 0.1404 |
| | | | | | Number of artificial wetlands with surface water on the plot | 0.0577 | 0.4065 |
| | | | | | Number of wetland classes on the plot | 0.1619 | -0.1589 |
| | | | | | Distance to nearest farmstead | 0.3342 | -0.3321 |

Table 5. Discriminant analysis between ponds with blue-winged teal, gadwall, American wigeon, northern shoveler, and green-winged teal indicated breeding pairs, 1973 - 1976. The percent correctly classified is based on four discriminant functions. Only the first (A) and second (B) are listed in this table. Variables were significant (P<0.15) using Rao's V.

of the ponds were correctly classified using 11 variables. An ordination of these species on the discriminating variables helps clarify the relationships between pairs and habitat (Figure 11). Northern shoveler and blue-winged teal pairs were observed on ponds with larger basin area than gadwalls and American wigeons. Mean basin area of ponds used by these four species was northern shovelers (4.15 ha), blue-winged teal (2.05 ha), gadwalls (1.63 ha), and American wigeons (1.37 ha). Blue-winged teal and northern shoveler pairs tended to be present on ponds with variable water levels while gadwall and American wigeon pairs were present on ponds with stable water levels at the normal high water mark. Northern shoveler pairs were present on more ponds which had water levels above the normal high water mark than the other species. Northern shoveler pairs were present on ponds located on plots with mean surface area of natural wetlands of 1.11 ha. This was significantly (P<0.05) different from the mean surface area of natural wetlands for American wigeon pairs $(\overline{X} = 0.13 \text{ ha})$. Blue-winged teal used more ponds located in the Southern Plateau and were associated with more artificial wetlands than were northern shoveler pairs.



Figure 11. Ordination of mid- and late-nesting waterfowl species on the first two discriminant functions, 1973 - 1976.

DISCUSSION

Differences in percentages of variance explained (R²) between species roughly followed the differences in home range sizes. Species with smaller home ranges would be expected to spend more of their time on fewer ponds so that variability in type of habitat would be less. Habitat variables would be able to account for more of the variability in numbers of pairs. Highest percentages of variance explained occurred for blue-winged teal (47 percent) and northern shovelers (35 percent) which use relatively smaller home ranges (Gates 1962, McHenry 1971, Poston 1974). Mallards, pintails, gadwalls, and American wigeons use larger home ranges (Dzubin 1955, Bellrose 1976) and had smaller percentages (26 to 35 percent) of the variance explained.

Wetland habitat

Shoreline distance accounted for more variation in mallard and blue-winged teal pairs than any other variable. Mallard and blue-winged teal pairs per pond increased with increasing shoreline length. Hochbaum (1944) observed that more breeding pairs used wetlands with greater shoreline length.

Increasing irregularity of shoreline appeared to attract more breeding pairs. Numbers of blue-winged teal and pintail pairs increased proportionately with increasing shoreline irregularity. Gadwall pairs per pond did not respond linearly to shoreline

development. Numbers of gadwall pairs per pond may reach an upper limit (S.D. = 2.2) beyond which increasing shoreline irregularity has no additional value. More pairs may be observed on ponds with longer or more irregular shorelines for several reasons. Bennett (1938) and Smith (1955) observed that the number of male waiting sites limited the number of breeding pairs using the wetland. As shoreline length increased, the number of potential drake waiting sites increased.

Small bays and peninsulas may provide natural concealment between adjacent territorial pairs resulting in reduced strife, compressed territorial sizes, and increased local population. Drewien and Springer (1969) attributed greatest blue-winged teal densities on temporary glacial ponds to the greater ratio of edge of shoreline per unit surface area. Bue (1956) believed that stock ponds received greater use by breeding pairs than did natural wetlands because stock ponds provided more points and inlets for natural territorial boundaries.

More shoreline may indicate more available nesting cover. Bennett (1938) noted that there was a positive relationship between shoreline length of wetlands used by blue-winged teal and the amount of nesting cover within 200 m. Availability of nesting cover may positively influence blue-winged teal since blue-winged teal nest near water (Sowls 1955, Glover 1956). Mallard and pintail pairs are capable of nesting much further from water yet appear to be positively influenced by shoreline distance also. Bue (1956) found that where

adjacent nesting cover was absent, mallards and pintails travelled further to nest without adversely influencing use of the stock pond. Apparently, several factors were interacting making shoreline distance an important variable associated with pair use.

Breeding dabbling ducks were more abundant on natural ponds with greater surface water area (Hochbaum 1944, Stoudt 1949, Evans et al. 1952) but more efficiently utilized smaller wetlands (Bennett 1938, Evans and Black 1956, Jenni 1956, Stoudt 1969). These same relationships applied to stock ponds (Lokemoen 1972). Lokemoen (1973) found that stock pond surface water area was the highest positively correlated variable with duck use of any of the habitat variables he studied. Flake et al. (1977) found similar results for total breeding pairs. It is interesting to note that neither of these two studies included pond basin area, shoreline distance, or presence of sedges as independent variables. Each of these variables was more highly correlated with one of the seven dabbling duck species studied here than was surface water area. The simple correlation coefficients indicate that surface water area would have been the highest positively correlated variable with blue-winged teal and northern shoveler pairs if these three variables had been omitted from the analysis.

The importance of surface water area to breeding pairs was often suppressed due to fractional differences in correlation between the wetland habitat variables and correlations (r) with previously entered variables. Standardized regression and discriminant function coefficients indicated surface water area was an important variable

47

relative to the other variables entered. Mallard, pintail, and gadwall pairs were more abundant on ponds with larger surface water area. Surface area was also importantly associated with northern shovelers, blue-winged teal, and green-winged teal.

Flake et al. (1977) found that surface water area was importantly associated with mallard and gadwall pairs but was of lesser importance to blue-winged teal and American wigeon pairs. Emergent vegetation variables were associated more with blue-winged teal and American wigeons than was pond size.

Surface water area was not an important variable associated with American wigeons but was important to blue-winged teal pairs in this study. Blue-winged teal pairs increased in near proportion to pond size and appeared to be dependent on surface water area. American wigeon pairs may not be influenced by pond size as much as other species. The mean size of ponds used by American wigeon pairs was not significantly different from the mean size of ponds available. Smith (1971) found that American wigeon pairs preferred smaller ponds ranging in size from 0.24 ha to 0.66 ha in Alberta. Stoudt (1971) observed that American wigeon pairs appeared to be less affected by drought than any other species at Redvers, Saskatchewan.

Pond basin area accounted for more variance in pintail, northern shoveler, and green-winged teal pairs than any other variable including surface water area. Pairs of these species were more abundant on ponds with larger basins. Surface water area in combination with unknown factors associated with the shore appeared more

important to these pairs than the area of surface water alone. The area between the high water mark and the actual water mark may be an important variable associated with northern shovelers, pintails, and blue-winged teal. Blue-winged teal and northern shovelers were present on more ponds with 25 percent of the deep marsh zone dry than were American wigeon or gadwall pairs. Pintail pairs used more flooded ponds than did mallard pairs. Shallow water has been shown to be an important characteristic of pintail breeding habitat (Smith and Stoudt 1968). Smith (1970) concluded that pintails preferred types of wetlands that were subject to seasonal and annual instability.

Emergent vegetation

Genera, height, and interspersion of emergent vegetation were important variables associated with breeding pair use of stock ponds. The presence of sedges accounted for more variation in numbers of gadwall and American wigeon pairs than any other single variable. Sedges were positively correlated with gadwall, American wigeon, blue-winged teal, and northern shoveler pairs. Sedges were not significantly associated with early-nesting mallard and pintail pairs presumably because sedges had not emerged at the time of the early pair counts. Emergents provide food and cover and may be related to abundance and availability of invertebrates (Mendall 1958). Keith (1961) found seeds of sedges were a food item for northern shovelers, mallards, blue-winged teal, and green-winged teal.

Roundstem bulrush was an important variable positively correlated

with each breeding waterfowl species studied. Pairs of pintail, gadwall, and American wigeon used more ponds with roundstem bulrush than ponds without this emergent. The presence of roundstem bulrush was the best single variable distinguishing between ponds with and without American wigeon pairs. Flake et al. (1977) found emergents were associated with American wigeon pairs using stock ponds in Harding County, South Dakota. Achenes of roundstem bulrushes are an important food item for ducks (Bennett 1938, Keith 1961). Roundstem bulrush may have other values such as brood rearing cover and roosting cover.

Stock ponds with spikerush received greater use by blue-winged teal pairs than those without. Keith (1961) observed that seeds of spikerush were the preferred food of dabbling ducks on his study area in Saskatchewan.

The interspersion pattern of these emergent species also appeared to be important to pairs. Mallard, pintail, blue-winged teal, gadwall, and American wigeon pairs were positively correlated (r) with scattered dense patches or diffuse open stands of emergents. More pairs of pintail and gadwall occurred on ponds with this cover type than on completely open ponds. Pintails, American wigeons, northern shovelers, and green-winged teal tended not to use ponds surrounded by a dense band of emergents. Open shorelines may have been used because more loafing sites were available. Bue et al. (1964) stated that shallow protected shorelines produced tall emergents such as cattail and roundstem bulrush which were not attractice to pairs. Keith (1961) observed that cattail-bordered ponds supported the fewest

breeding pairs per unit of shoreline and that blue-winged teal were least affected by differences in shoreline type. Stock ponds devoid of any shoreline vegetation also received little use by breeding waterfowl (Bue et al. 1952, Lokemoen 1973).

Open water lacking dense emergents appeared to be an important criterion for use by all pairs. Open water area was significantly (P<0.01) and positively associated with numbers of pairs of all species. More pintail, blue-winged teal, gadwall, and northern shoveler pairs occurred on ponds with larger open water area. Open water area was particularly important to gadwall pairs. Breeding waterfowl may avoid wetlands with congested dense stands of emergents (Bue 1956, Evans and Black 1956, Smith 1969).

Blue-winged teal may not be as selective in regard to shoreline vegetation as other pairs. Blue-winged teal were positively correlated with both sparse and dense shoreline cover types but neither was a significant variable in accounting for more blue-winged teal pairs using a pond. Blue-winged teal were positively correlated with cattails.

Mallard pairs were more likely to use ponds with a peripheral band of emergents than were pintails. Pintails preferred more open shoreline with exposed edges and open water than did mallards (Hochbaum 1944, Sowls 1955). Smith (1969) believed pintail pairs were much more specific in their habitat needs than mallards, preferring grassy, open ponds while mallard pairs used a variety of habitat types. Stoudt (1971) suggested that more closed ponds may have been selected by mallards because of the isolation afforded by the peripheral vegetation.

Grazing of the shoreline may open up dense stands of emergents and thus be beneficial to breeding pairs (Bennett 1938, Sowls 1955, Smith 1971, Rundquist 1973). Stoudt (1971) observed that ponds with ungrazed margins were used more frequently by mallards and blue-winged teal than were ponds with grazed margins. Flake et al. (1977) concluded that gadwall pairs were positively associated with trampled and bare-soil shorelines.

In this study we found that gadwall and American wigeon pairs tended to use ponds with more of the shoreline grazed than did northern shovelers. Gadwall and American wigeon pairs were less abundant on ponds with a dense peripheral band of emergents.

Mallard and pintail pairs were less abundant on stock ponds where the periphery was grazed more intensely. Pairs of these species were more abundant on ponds in ungrazed or only lightly grazed pastures. Over-grazing is detrimental to breeding waterfowl use of stock ponds. Salyer (1962) and Kirsch (1969) have observed more pairs on wetlands on ungrazed land than on grazed land. Bue et al. (1964) concluded that over-grazing of stock ponds not only reduced the occurrence of desirable nesting cover species but also reduced the density-height conditions necessary to nesting waterfowl. Duebbert and Kantrud (1974) have shown that the type of cover available to dabbling duck hens at the beginning of nesting was an important factor in nest site selection. Jahn and Hunt (1964) have observed that

breeding mallard pairs in Wisconsin were most abundant on wetlands where adjacent nesting cover was abundant. Smith (1971) found that mallards did not use the heavily grazed open shorelines if other areas were available.

Emergent vegetation height was positively associated with all species of breeding pairs except American wigeons. Mallard pairs were more abundant on ponds with taller emergents. Blue-winged and green-winged teal tended not to use ponds which had shorter emergent vegetation.

Keith (1961) noted that presence of residual upland cover from previous years may be extremely important to early nesting pairs. Gjersing (1975) observed that pair populations seemed to respond positively to increased residual vegetation resulting from rest rotation grazing. Kadlec (1962) noted that residual vegetation must be present in early spring for maximum breeding pair use. He also observed that residual vegetation collected snow in winter which resulted in thinner ice and earlier spring thawing. Early thawing provided open water for early arriving pairs which influenced selection of breeding areas. Mundinger (1976) found that greater pair use occurred in years following a rest period from grazing on pastures which he felt was due to increased residual vegetation.

Wetland association

A variety of wetlands in the home range may be necessary to provide all the breeding habitat requirements of pairs (Dzubin 1969a).

We found that the number of wetland classes on the plot was an important variable associated with breeding pair use of stock ponds. Pintail, gadwall, and American wigeon pairs may require greater wetland diversity to satisfy a greater variety of specific breeding habitat needs. Characteristically larger home range sizes for these species may be the result of the need for greater wetland diversity. Blue-winged teal and northern shoveler pairs may have needs which are met on one or two ponds and do not require a diversity of wetlands. No literature evidence could be found to support this hypothesis.

Mallard pairs were inversely correlated (r) with numbers and areas of artificial wetlands on the plot and with wetland diversity. Mallard and American wigeon pairs were not correlated (r) with numbers or areas of surface water of natural wetlands on the plot. Mallard pairs may prefer more isolated ponds (Evans and Black 1956). Stock ponds associated with the least number of other wetlands would offer the least chance of interspecific disturbance. A large number of other wetlands with open water on the plot could negatively influence mallard pair use of stock ponds located in the same area. Conversely, it is possible that mallard pairs use more isolated ponds because of their larger home range size (Lokemoen 1973). Out-lying ponds would tend to be used more by those species with larger home ranges.

At least two other explanations are possible. More mallard pairs may be using isolated ponds because pairs were being crowded onto the available water areas. Also, fewer mallard pairs may use stock ponds when pairs could disperse onto many associated natural wetlands.

located nearby. Evidence to support these explanations is lacking.

Too many man-made wetlands on the plot may negatively influence pair use on a particular stock pond. The number and surface area of the other stock ponds and dugouts on the study plot were negatively correlated (r) with mallard, blue-winged teal, gadwall, northern shoveler, and American wigeon pairs. It was also possible that as the number of other artificial basins on the plot increased, pairs spaced themselves (territoriality) on all available ponds such that use of any given pond decreased. Numbers or surface areas of natural wetlands were positively correlated (r) with pintail, blue-winged teal, gadwall, and northern shoveler pairs on stock ponds. Natural ponds may provide some pair requirements not available on man-made ponds.

Northern shoveler pairs may prefer stock ponds associated with a few large natural wetlands rather than many small wetlands. Surface water area of natural wetlands on the plot was positively correlated with numbers of northern shoveler pairs but pairs tended to be present on ponds located on the plots with fewer natural wetlands. Larger ponds definitely have the advantage in being more permanent, thus offering more brood security. It was also possible that a greater number of natural wetlands on the plot allowed northern shoveler pairs to be more dispersed with fewer numbers being present on a stock pond at any given time. Fewer but larger natural wetlands on the plot would be used less with more pairs using the stock pond. I could find no evidence to support either explanation.

Numbers of dry basins associated with breeding pairs may indicate

crowding on stock ponds as a result of pairs homing to dry wetlands or crowding on stock ponds as a result of other wetlands drying up. Pintails, gadwalls, and green-winged teal were positively correlated (r) with number of dry basins on the plot. Pintail pairs were more abundant on ponds associated with more dry basins. Sowls (1955) found highest percentages of returning hens to Delta, Manitoba, for pintails, gadwalls, and northern shovelers while smallest percentages were for blue-winged teal and mallards. Gates (1962) calculated high homing rates for gadwall hens to Ogden Bay, Utah. Thus, the pintail and gadwall pairs observed on stock ponds in this study may have been forced to use stock ponds when basins they were homing to became dry.

Physiographic strata

Some geographic preference by breeding waterfowl has been noted in South Dakota (Ruwaldt 1975, Brewster et al. 1976). Edminster (1964) observed that stock ponds located in the traditional flyway of waterfowl were more likely to be used than ponds located outside the original range. In this study, geographic location of stock ponds was an important variable associated with use by different species. All pairs except American wigeons and green-winged teal were more common on stock ponds in the Missouri Coteau. The Missouri Coteau, by nature of its location in the Prairie Pothole Region, has more natural glacial wetlands and a more integrated wetland system than the west-river strata. Pairs could prefer stock ponds located in this stratum because of the complex of associated natural wetlands.

56

All average and the second s

However, numbers and types of wetlands on the plot with stock ponds should have accounted for most of this variation but usually entered the regression and discriminant functions after the strata variables. This indicated that other variables not measured in this study influenced the geographic distribution of pairs on stock ponds.

Upland habitat

Upland habitat variables were not as highly correlated with breeding pairs using stock ponds as wetland association variables. Mallard pairs were less abundant on ponds located on plots with a large area of fallow but were positively associated with area of small grain on the plot. Pintail pairs were most abundant on ponds adjacent to large amounts of pasture. Northern shoveler pairs were more abundant on ponds with upland areas in small grain. American wigeon pairs tended to use ponds located on plots with treeland.

Stoudt (1971) found that mallard pairs at Redvers, Saskatchewan, were more abundant on ponds in cultivated land as opposed to pasture where pintail, blue-winged teal, and canvasback were more abundant. Smith (1971) found that American wigeon pairs were more abundant on natural ponds surrounded by hayland and ungrazed woodland. Similar results for mallard, pintail, and American wigeon pairs were found in this study.

Disturbance

Roads located on the plot did not appear to adversely disturb breeding pairs. In fact, pintail pairs were positively correlated (r) with hectares of roadside. Gadwall pairs tended to use ponds located on plots with more roadside area. Mallard pairs were more abundant on stock ponds located near roads. Roadsides may be important nesting cover for all dabbling duck species (Smith 1971). Milonski (1958) has shown that roadsides were preferred nesting cover for pintail pairs.

Disturbance due to human activity around farmsteads may negatively influence pairs of some breeding species. Gadwall and American wigeon pairs tended to use ponds located further from occupied farmsteads than did northern shovelers, green-winged teal, and blue-winged teal. Gadwall pairs were more abundant on ponds located further from farmsteads. Mallard pairs were more likely to use ponds located further from farmsteads than were pintail pairs. This would indicate that mallards, gadwalls, and American wigeons preferred stock ponds isolated from farmsteads while pintails, northern shovelers, blue-winged teal, and green-winged teal were less affected.

Time and temperature

Mallard pair use of stock ponds increased with increasing pond age but pair use declined after about 16 years. Lokemoen (1973) found that mallard pairs using stock ponds in North Dakota were positively related to pond age with ponds less than five years old being used less by pairs. He suggested that removal of vegetation and lack of nutrients following construction caused younger ponds to be used less.

Time of day may also be an important factor influencing use by pairs. Lulls and peaks of use by mallard pairs occurred at times when pairs were likely to be returning from or going to feeding areas. Mallard pairs may have been going to fields to feed or nest from 600 to 900 CDT and from 1800 to 2100 CDT.

Hochbaum (1955), Bossenmaier and Marshall (1958), and Winner (1959) observed that ducks feeding in upland areas tended to concentrate their feeding flights into two daily periods, one during early morning and the other during late afternoon or evening. Dzubin (1969a) observed that pairs left census ponds in early morning to fly to nesting cover. He observed that mallards, pintails, and American wigeons were not observed on study ponds in evening and morning because they fed on grain stubble at these times. Mallards and pintails were especially prone to leave ponds after 1800 hours.

Blue-winged teal pairs were more abundant on stock ponds during mid-day. Drewien (1968) found that blue-winged teal hens left the nest in afternoons for as much as four hours to feed and rest before returning in the evening. Klett and Kirsch (1976) found that mid-day counts of blue-winged teal were lower than during early morning and evening. However, the number of lone drakes observed at mid-day increased as the breeding season progressed. Lacy (1959) found greatest differences between morning and mid-day pairs per unit of artificial water area early in the season when pairs were selecting

nesting sites. Later in the season when nests were initiated, lone drakes and pairs remained longer on man-made ponds though peak occupancy still remained in early morning.

More mobile species were less abundant on ponds when temperatures were higher. More pintail and mallard pairs were observed on ponds early in the day when temperatures were cooler. Green-winged teal, blue-winged teal, and northern shovelers used ponds when or where temperatures were higher than did gadwalls and American wigeons. Maximum use of the stock pond at different period of the day would allow maximum coexistence by the various species with least amount of interspecific disturbance. Sowls (1955) has observed that two or more pairs may use the same loafing spots at different times of the day.

Management suggestions

The following management suggestions are made:

1. Stock ponds between 0.5 ha and 2.0 ha in surface area are recommended for construction for breeding dabbling duck species except northern shovelers. Northern shoveler pairs may require larger ponds. Ponds smaller than 0.5 ha of surface water may dry up during the brood rearing season and are not a reliable source of livestock drinking water. Larger ponds are less efficient. Breeding pair densities decrease with increasing surface area. Ponds larger than 2.0 ha should be constructed in preference to ponds less than 0.5 ha. A cash incentive program to share an additional 10 percent of the cost of construction of stock ponds favorable to breeding pairs and broods would be beneficial.

2. Ponds should be constructed with the maximum possible amount of shoreline per unit of surface area. Stock ponds with at least twice as much shoreline as would be necessary to just enclose the surface water area are recommended for construction. Minimum shoreline distance should range from 300 m for ponds with 0.5 ha of surface water to 1000 m for ponds with 2.0 ha of surface water. Ponds constructed in gentle topography at the confluence of several draws or with islands would have long irregular shorelines.

3. Heavy grazing should be discouraged because it adversely affects pair use. Light grazing may control dense peripheral stands of emergents and allow higher duck use, particularly for pintails, American wigeons, northern shovelers, and green-winged teal.

4. Recently constructed ponds should be protected from grazing to allow emergents to become established. Ponds with emergents scattered in dense patches or diffuse open stands appear to be important for pairs of mallards, pintails, blue-winged teal, gadwalls, and American wigeons.

5. Spacing of stock ponds to distribute grazing pressure appears to be good for breeding pairs. More stock ponds should be constructed, especially in areas having lowest stock pond densities.

6. Ponds should be constructed and managed for species preferring the particular stratum. Development of stock ponds in a stratum for species which avoid that stratum would give poorer results
than if the ponds had been planned and managed for species preferring the stratum.

-

.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bennett, L. J. 1938. The blue-winged teal. Collegiate Press, Inc., Ames, Iowa. 144pp.
- Bellrose, F. C. 1976. Ducks, geese, and swans of North America. 2nd ed. Stackpole Books, Harrisburg, Pa. 543pp.
- Bossenmaier, E. F. and W. H. Marshall. 1958. Field-feeding by waterfowl in southwestern Manitoba. Wildl. Monogr. 1. 32pp.
- Brewster, W. G., J. M. Gates, and L. D. Flake. 1976. Breeding waterfowl populations and their distribution in South Dakota. J. Wildl. Manage. 40(1):50-59.
- Bue, I. G. 1956. The ecology of waterfowl on stock ponds in western South Dakota. Ph.D. Thesis. Univ. of Minnesota (Libr. Congr. Card No. Mic. 16550). 127pp. Univ. Micr. Ann Arbor.
- _____., L. Blankenship, and W. H. Marshall. 1952. The relationship of grazing practices to waterfowl breeding populations and production on stock ponds in western South Dakota. Trans. N.Am. Wildl. Conf. 17:396-414.
- ____., H. G. Uhlig, and J. D. Smith. 1964. Stock ponds and dugouts. Pages 391-398 <u>in</u> J. P. Linduska, ed. Waterfowl Tomorrow. U.S. Dept. Interior, Washington, D. C.
- Drewien, R. C. 1968. Ecological relationships of breeding blue-winged teal to prairie potholes. M.S. Thesis. South Dakota State Univ., Brookings. 98pp.
- _____., and P. F. Springer. 1969. Ecological relationships of breeding blue-winged teal to prairie potholes. Pages 102-115 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Duebbert, H. F. 1972. Ducks on stockponds in north central South Dakota. Pages 33-35 in H. W. Miller, ed. Wildlife on man-made water areas; reports and discussions at the second seminar, April 15-16, 1970. Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center. U.S. Fish Wildl. Ser.
- _____., and H. A. Kantrud. 1974. Upland duck nesting related to land use and predator reduction. J. Wildl. Manage. 38(2):257-265.
- Dzubin, A. 1955. Some evidences of home range in waterfowl. Trans. N. Am. Wildl. Conf. 20:278-298.

- ____. 1969a. Comments on carrying capacity of small ponds for ducks and possible effects of density on mallard production. Pages 138-160 in Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- _____. 1969b. Assessing breeding populations of ducks by ground counts. Pages 178-230 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Edminster, F. C. 1964. Farm ponds and waterfowl. Pages 399-408 in J. P. Linduska, ed. Waterfowl Tomorrow. U.S. Dept. Interior, Washington, D. C.
- Evans, C. D., and K. E. Black. 1956. Duck production studies on the prairie potholes of South Dakota. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wildl. 32. 59pp.
- _____., A. S. Hawkins, and W. H. Marshall. 1952. Movements of waterfowl broods in Manitoba. U.S. Fish and Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wildl. 16. 47pp. plus plates.
- Flake, L. D., G. L. Petersen, and W. L. Tucker. 1977. Habitat relationships of breeding waterfowl on stock ponds in northwestern South Dakota. Proc. South Dakota Acad. of Sci., in press.
- Flint, R. F. 1955. Pleistocene geology of eastern South Dakota. Geological Survey. Prof. Paper No. 262. U.S. Dept. of Interior, Washington, D. C. 173pp.
- Gates, J. M. 1962. Breeding biology of the gadwall in northern Utah. Wilson Bull. 74(1):43-67.
- Gjersing, F. M. 1975. Waterfowl production in relation to restrotation grazing. J. Range Manage. 28(1):37-42.
- Glover, R. A. 1956. Nesting and production of the blue-winged teal (<u>Anas discors</u> Linnaeus) in northwest Iowa. J. Wildl. Manage. 20(1):28-46.
- Hammond, M. C. 1969. Notes on conducting waterfowl breeding population surveys in the north central states. Pages 238-254 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Hochbaum, H.A. 1944. The canvasback on a prairie marsh. North Am. Wildl. Inst., Washington, D. C. 201pp.
- _____. 1955. Travels and traditions of waterfowl. Univ. of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, Minn. 301pp.
- Jahn, L. R., and R. A. Hunt. 1964. Duck and coot ecology and management in Wisconsin. Wis. Conserv. Dept. Tech. Bull. 33. 212pp.

- James, F. C. 1971. Ordinations of habitat relationships among breeding birds. Wilson Bull. 83(3):215-236.
- Jenni, D. A. 1956. Pothole water levels in relation to waterfowl breeding populations and production. M.S. Thesis. Utah State Univ., Logan. 55pp.
- Kadlec, J. A. 1962. Effects of a drawdown on a waterfowl impoundment. Ecology 43(2):267-281.
- Keith, L. B. 1961. A study of waterfowl ecology on small impoundments in southeastern Alberta. Wildl. Monogr. 6. 88pp.
- Kim, J. and F. J. Kohout. 1975. Multiple regression analysis: subprogram regression. Pages 320-367 in N. H. Nie, C. H. Hull, J. G. Jenkins, K. Steinbrenner, and D. H. Bent eds. Statistical Package for the social sciences, 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.
- Kirsch, L. M. 1969. Waterfowl production in relation to grazing. J. Wildl. Manage. 33(4):821-828.
- Klecka, W. R. 1975. Discriminant analysis. Pages 434-467 in N.H. Nie, C. H. Hull, J. G. Jenkins, K. Steinbrenner, and D. H. Bent ed. Statistical package for the social sciences, 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.
- Klett, A. T. and L. M. Kirsch. 1976. Diurnal use of small wetlands by ducks. J. Wildl. Manage. 40(2):351-353.
- Kruse, A. D. 1972. Utilization of man-made waters on Arrowwood National Wildlife Refuge and WPA's. Pages 21-24 in H. W. Miller, ed. Wildlife on man-made water areas; reports and discussions at the second seminar, April 15-16, 1970. Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv.
- Lacy, C. H. 1959. Artificial pothole and level ditch development as a means of increasing waterfowl production. M.S. Thesis. Utah State Univ., Logan. 109pp.
- Lagler, K. F. 1956. Freshwater Fishery Biology. Wm. C. Brown Co., Dubuque, Iowa. 421pp.
- Lokemoen, J. T. 1972. Duck use related to pond size and spacing. Pages 39-42 <u>in</u> H. W. Miller, ed. Wildlife on man-made water areas; reports and discussions at the second seminar, April 15-16, 1970. Northern Prairie Wildl. Res. Center. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv.
- ____. 1973. Waterfowl production on stock-watering ponds in the northern plains. J. Range Manage. 26(3):179-184.

- McHenry, M. G. 1971. Breeding and post-breeding movements of blue-winged teal (<u>Anas discors</u>) in southwestern Manitoba. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Oklahoma, Norman. 67pp.
- Mendall, H. L. 1958. The ring-necked duck in the Northeast. Univ. of Maine Bull. 60(16). 317pp.
- Milonski, M. 1958. The significance of farmland for waterfowl nesting and techniques for reducing losses due to agricultural practices. Trans. North Am. Wildl. Conf. 23:215-227.
- Morrison, D. F. 1967. Multivariate statistical methods. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York. 338pp.
- Mundinger, J. G. 1976. Waterfowl response to rest-rotation grazing. J. Wildl. Manage. 40(1):60-68.
- Nie, N. H., C. H. Hull, J. G. Jenkins, K. Steinbrenner, and D. H. Bent eds. 1975. Statistical package for the social sciences, 2nd ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York. 675pp.
- Poston, H. J. 1974. Home range and breeding biology of the shoveler. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 25. 49pp.
- Rundquist, V. M. 1973. Avian ecology on stock ponds in two vegetational types in north central Montana. Ph.D. Thesis. Montana State Univ. (Libr. Congr. Card No. Mic. 74-10307). 125pp. Univ. Micr., Ann Arbor.
- Ruwaldt, J. J., Jr. 1975. Distribution and importance of stockdams, dugouts, and natural wetlands to breeding waterfowl in South Dakota. M.S. Thesis. South Dakota State Univ., Brookings. 45pp.
- Salyer, J. W. 1962. Effects of drought and land use on prairie nesting ducks. Trans. N. Amer. Wildl. Nat. Res. Conf. 27:69-79.
- Smith, A. G. 1969. Waterfowl-habitat relationships on the Lousana, Alberta, waterfowl study area. Pages 116-122 in Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can Wildl. Serv. Pep. Ser. 6.
- _____. 1971. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Alberta parklands. U.S. Dept. Interior. Bur. Sport Fish Wildl. Res. Publ. 98. 49pp.
- _____, and J. H. Stoudt. 1968. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Canadian parklands. Completion Rep., U.S. Bur. Sport Fish. and Wildl. 322pp.
- Smith, J. D. 1958. An aerial study of the relative utilization by waterfowl on natural and man-made water areas in the great plains region of the United States, 1958. U.S. Fish Wildl. Ser. Unpub. Rep.

- Smith, R. I. 1955. The breeding territory and its relationship to waterfowl productivity at Ogden Bay Bird Refuge. M.S. Thesis. Utah State Agric. College, Logan. 46pp.
- _____. 1970. Response of pintail breeding populations to drought. J. Wildl. Manage. 34(4):943-946.
- Sowls, L. K. 1955. Prairie ducks: a study of their behavior, ecology and management. Stackpole Co., Harrisburg, Pa., and The Wildlife Management Institute, Washington, D. C. 193pp.
- Snedecor, G. W. and W. G. Cochran. 1967. Statistical methods. 6th ed., Iowa State Univ. Press, Ames. 593pp.
- Steel, R. G. D. and J. H. Torrie. 1960. Principles and procedures of statistics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York. 481pp.
- Stewart, R. E. and H. A. Kantrud. 1971. Classification of natural ponds and lakes in the glaciated prairie region. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Res. Publ. 92. 57pp.
- _____and ____. 1972. Population estimates of breeding birds in North Dakota. Auk 89(4):766-788.
- Stoudt, J. H. 1949. Waterfowl breeding ground survey in the Dakotas. Pages 143-154 in Waterfowl populations and breeding conditions summer, 1949. U.S. Fish and Wildl. Serv. and Dominion Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep.:Wildl. 2. 242pp.
- _____. 1969. Relationship between waterfowl and water areas on the Redvers waterfowl study area. Pages 123-131 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- _____. 1971. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Saskatchewan parklands. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wildl. 99. 58pp.
- Sturman, W. A. 1968. Description and analysis of breeding habits of chickadees, <u>Parus atricapillus</u> and <u>P. refescens</u>. Ecology 49(3):418-431.
- Westin, F. C., L. F. Puhr, and G. J. Buntley. 1970. Soils of South Dakota. Soils Surv. Ser. No. 3. Agronomy Dept., Agric. Exp. Sta., South Dakota State Univ., Brookings. 32pp.
- Whitmore, R. C. 1975. Habitat ordination of Passerine birds of the Virgin River Valley, southwestern Utah. Wilson Bull. 87(1):65-74.
- Winner, R. W. 1959. Field-feeding periodicity of black and mallard ducks. J. Wildl. Manage. 23(2):197-202.

APPENDICES

,

•

68

.

•

APPENDIX A. Stock pond density

There are an estimated 92,000 stock ponds in the Missouri Coteau, Northern Plateau, Pierre Hills, and Southern Plateau of South Dakota (Table 1). Ponds were sufficiently represented in these four strata to allow statistical analysis (Table 2). The Pierre Hills stratum has five times as many stock ponds as each of the other strata. Density of stock ponds per square kilometer were greatest in the Pierre Hills (0.92) and least in the Missouri Coteau (0.22). Hectares of stock pond basin per square kilometer are greatest in the Pierre Hills (2.24) and least in the Northern Plateau (0.81). The Northern Plateau had approximately four times as many ponds per land unit as the Missouri Coteau but stock pond basin area per land unit was nearly equal. This was due to the larger basin size of stock ponds in the Missouri Coteau.

| Major Physiographic Region | Area of Strata (Km ²) | Percent of Area Sampled | <u>Number o</u> Total (in thousands) | f Ponds Per Km ² | <u>Hectares c</u> Total (in thousands) | of Ponds Per Km ² |
|----------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|--|------------------------------------|
| Missouri Coteau | 27,995 | 0.18 | 6.3 | 0.22 | 24.1 | 0.86 |
| Northern Plateau | 30,093 | 0.15 | 24.5 | 0.82 | 24.5 | 0.81 |
| Pierre Hills | 52,821 | 0.11 | 51.4 | 0.97 | 118.7 | 2.24 |
| Southern Plateau | 20,813 | 0.17 | 9.7 | 0.47 | 21.7 | 1.04 |
| Total | 131,722 | 0.15 | 91.9 | 0.70 | 188.6 | 1.43 |

Table 1. Distribution and estimated numbers, hectares, and densities of stock pond basins among four major physiographic strata in South Dakota, 1976.

| Physiographic strata | <u>19</u> May | June | <u>19</u> May | June | <u>19</u> May | 975 June | 19 May | June | To May | otal June |
|-------------------------|------------------|------|------------------|------|------------------|-------------|-----------|------|-----------|--------------|
| Missouri Coteau | 14 | 14 | 13 | 12 | 12 | 13 | 8 | 6 | 47 | 45 |
| Northern Plateau | 24 | 23 | 19 | 18 | 30 | 28 | 21 | 17 | 94 | 86 |
| Pierre Hills | 49 | 50 | 38 | 38 | 54 | 51 | 41 | 35 | 182 | 174 |
| Southern Plateau | 14 | 14 | 14 | 14 | 14 | 16 | 14 | 9 | 56 | 53 |
| Total | 101 | 91 | 84 | 82 | 110 | 108 | 84 | 67 | 379 | 358 |

Table 2. Numbers of stock ponds containing surface water by physiographs strata for May and June, 1973 - 1976.

APPENDIX B. Precipitation and pond surface water area

Breeding pair use of wetlands may not only reflect water conditions on the immediate ponds but also water conditions over the entire breeding grounds (Dzubin 1969). Precipitation records, obtained from the National Weather Service at Brookings, South Dakota, were averaged over all stations within each stratum to explore the relationships between pairs using stock ponds, pond surface water area, and regional precipitation.

Deteriorating water conditions over the four year period are evident in the declining 12 month precipitation (Table 1). Precipitation in all strata in 1972-73 was well above average for the four year study period. Twelve month precipitation was lower in 1974-75 and 1975-76 than in the first two years. The four year drying trend resulted in a drought over much of South Dakota in 1976.

This drying trend was also evident in the reduction of stock pond surface water area over the four year period (Table 2). Total surface water area available to breeding pairs during the May and June censuses decreased in all strata from 1973 to 1974 and from 1975 to 1976. Greatest decreases occurred in the Missouri Coteau and smallest decreases occurred in the Northern Plateau.

Pond water conditions during a critical period of time in spring migration influences use of breeding habitat (Drewien and Springer 1969). This critical period probably occurs in April and May in South Dakota when peak migrations of dabbling ducks occur. Precipitation

| Physiographic | Av | erage preci | m) | 4-vear | |
|------------------|--------|---------------|--------|--------|---------|
| Strata | 72-73 | 73-74 | 74-75 | 75-76 | Average |
| Missouri Coteau | 57.38 | 45.19 | 39.50 | 41.35 | 45.85 |
| | (4.92) | (3.30) | (4.26) | (2.87) | (3.84) |
| Northern Plateau | 47.93 | 41.30 | 38.30 | 37.26 | 41.22 |
| | (4.02) | (2.96) | (5.83) | (2.49) | (3.83) |
| Pierre Hills | 51.54 | 42.72 | 36.30 | 35.03 | 41.40 |
| | (4.63) | (3.10) | (4.07) | (2.30) | (3.53) |
| Southern Plateau | 55.73 | 4 9.35 | 34.34 | 35.88 | 43.66 |
| | (3.84) | (2.91) | (4.80) | (2.30) | (3.46) |
| Strata Average | 53.14 | 44.68 | 37.11 | 37.24 | 43.05 |
| | (4.35) | (3.07) | (4.74) | (2.49) | (3.66) |

Table 1. Average annual precipitation from May through April and average precipitation during March and April (in parenthesis) by year and physiographic strata.

| Strata | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 |
|------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Missouri Coteau | (12.02) | (10.26) | (10.71) | (5.24) |
| | 13.98 | 12.22 | 10.57 | 2.00) |
| Northern Plateau | (15.07) | (9.70) | (13.85) | (11.34) |
| | 13.70 | 9.21 | 12.54 | 9.73 |
| Pierre Hills | (46.09) | (34.74) | (46.27) | (25.97) |
| | 42.86 | 39.44 | 45.16 | 22.11 |
| Southern Plateau | (15.05) | (11.46) | (14.64) | (11.63) |
| | 15.38 | 12.21 | 13.69 | 9.91 |
| Total | (88.23) | (66.16) | (85.47) | (54.18) |
| | 85.93 | 73.08 | 81.97 | 43.75 |

1

Table 2. Hectares of stock pond surface water by physiographic strata from May (in parenthesis) and June breeding pair counts, 1973 - 1976.

.

prior to this period may have an important influence on stock pond surface water area available to breeding pairs during that critical period. Pospahala et al. (1974) concluded that precipitation during the 12 months prior to the May U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Waterfowl Survey was an important variable influencing the number of natural ponds present in Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba. Precipitation during April and May was of minor importance compared to the cumulative effect of several months on the number of ponds.

Twelve month precipitation, averaged from 1 May through 30 April was compared with stock pond surface water area in May to see if there was a positive relationship. Average 12 month precipitation for each stratum did not follow the trend in either May or June total pond surface area (Tables 1 and 2). Lack of congruence was especially evident in 1975. May pond surface water area had increased 29 percent but precipitation over the previous 12 months decreased by 16 percent.

The relationship between precipitation and surface water area is complicated by a host of interacting factors including evaporation, transpiration, seepage, humidity, temperature, wind, basin area, soil type, soil moisture, pond depth, and consumption by cattle (Eisenlohr and Sloan 1968, Stoudt 1969, Rundquist 1973). Apparently these factors and possibly others caused the discrepancy in trends between surface area and 12 month precipitation.

While it is possible for pond surface water area to increase in years of decreasing precipitation due to seepage inflow, it is much more plausible that the increase in total surface area of stock ponds

in 1975 was due to above average precipitation falling in a short period of time. Eisenlohr (1969) concluded that annual precipitation was not related to water replenishment in natural ponds in North Dakota because soil moisture and the magnitude of the storm were the effective controls over the amount of precipitation that became basin inflow. Precipitation on the water surface was the major source of water supply. Runoff only became an important source when the ground was either frozen or saturated (Eisenlohr and Sloan 1968). Accumulated snowfall was effective in supplying water if it melted rapidly while the ground remained frozen. Rain was an important source of runoff only if a large amount fell within a short period of time regardless of whether it was a dry or wet year. Stoudt (1969) believed that precipitation in May or June had a greater influence on raising and maintaining water levels of natural ponds and lakes in Saskatchewan than precipitation occurring later in the season.

Stock pond surface water area seems to depend more on amount and duration of precipitation than do natural ponds. Stock ponds located at the bottom of drainage basins receive more runoff than natural ponds in poor drainage glacial areas. Rundquist (1973) found that the direction and extent of weekly fluctuations in water levels of eastern Montana stock ponds were highly correlated with total weekly precipitation (r = 0.86). Bue (1956) observed that some similarity existed between water levels of 50 stock ponds in the Pierre Hills stratum and monthly precipitation as recorded in Pierre, S.D., in 1950 and 1951. The only deviations in water levels from this pattern could be explained by the occurrence of local heavy rains which were not recorded in Pierre.

In this study, May pond surface water area followed both the direction and extent of change in combined March and April precipitation. Above average precipitation during these two months and rapid melting resulted in heavy runoff in 1975 and increased surface water area.

Further evidence that stock pond surface water area was dependent on the amount of precipitation in March and April, was seen in the changes of total number of basins and surface area of each of the four years (Table 3). All wetland classes had greater percentages of basins wet both in number and area in 1973 and 1975 than in the other two years. These were years of above average March and April precipitation. A greater percentage of stock ponds had surface water in 1975, the year of greatest March and April precipitation, than any other year. In 1974 and 1976 when March and April precipitation was least, fewer stock ponds contained water and held less water.

Stock pond surface water area appeared to be more influenced by March and April precipitation than natural wetlands on the same plots. Stock ponds decreased less in surface area in 1974 and 1976 but increased more in surface area in 1975 than natural wetlands. Intermittent streams and dugouts showed the same direction and extent of change in percentages of basins wet and percentages of surface area with March and April precipitation as did stock ponds. Surface water area of streams, dugouts, and stock ponds depended more on surface runoff than natural ponds and lakes in the same area.

| Wetland class ^a | <u>19</u> May | 73 June | <u>19</u> May | 74 June | <u>19</u> May | June | 1976 May J | une |
|-------------------------------|------------------|------------|------------------|------------|------------------|-------------|---------------|-----|
| Ephemeral | 29 (4) | 0 (0) | | | 25 (38) | 17 (3) | | |
| Temporary | | | 86 (60) | 14 (7) | 100 (57) | 100 (86) | | |
| Seasonal | 50 | 25 | 33 | 0 | 33 | 67 | 6 | 0 |
| | (63) | (62) | (4) | (0) | (21) | (25) | (1) | (0) |
| Semi-permanent | 100 | 88 | 82 | 88 | 89 | 78 | 38 | 0 |
| | (83) | (79) | (56) | (53) | (37) | (33) | (6) | (0) |
| Intermittent stream | 80 | 88 | 47 | 36 | 77 | 59 | 50 | 24 |
| | (70) | (63) | (39) | (26) | (55) | (47) | (38) (1 | 12) |
| Dugout | 100 | 100 | 57 | 86 | 88 | 75 | 70 4 | 10 |
| | (79) | (81) | (49) | (83) | (68) | (63) | (58) (2 | 28) |
| Stock pond | 88 | 88 | 73 | 71 | 93 | 92 | 72 5 | 58 |
| | (83) | (80) | (60) | (66) | (83) | (80) | (53) (4 | 3) |

Table 3. Percent of total number of basins with surface water and percent of total basin area with surface water () for selected wetland classes located on quarter sections with stock ponds for May and June, 1973 - 1976.

1

^anatural pond classification according to Stewart and Kantrud (1971).

~

The importance of stock ponds in drought years as permanent water sources has been noted by other researchers. Keith (1961) concluded that the value of dammed and reflooded natural wetlands was greatest in water critical years when the natural ponds dried up in June and July. Stewart and Kantrud (1974) observed in 1968, a dry year in North Dakota, that the value of man-made wetlands (stock ponds and dugouts) increased over natural basins for breeding waterfowl. Bue et al. (1964) and Ruwaldt (1975) made similar observations in South Dakota. Stoudt (1971) observed that stock ponds were the most permanent water bodies during drought at Redvers, Saskatchewan.

In this study, stock ponds were found to be more permanent in total numbers of wet basins and total surface water area than natural wetlands in the same area during drought years. Stock ponds increased more in percentages of basins wet and total basin areas containing water in 1975, a wet year, than natural wetlands and decreased less in the same percentages during dry years. In 1976, the driest year, a greater percentage of stock ponds had surface water and had a greater proportion of the total basin area covered by water than any natural wetland class except permanent streams.

Pond surface area appeared to respond more to decreases in precipitation than to increases. The decrease in surface water area from 1973 to 1974 and from 1975 to 1976 was nearly proportional to decreases in March and April precipitation. However, pond surface water area did not increase proportionally to increased precipitation. Surface water area increased only 29 percent across all strata in

1975 when precipitation increased 54 percent. March and April precipitation was highest in 1975 but surface water area was less than in 1973. It was possible that as the drying trend intensified in 1975 due to below average annual precipitation, soil moisture content had greatly decreased. When precipitation did come in March and April of 1975, a much greater proportion of it was retained in the soil.

Trends in pond surface water area in the Missouri Coteau were least like trends in March and April precipitation. Surface water area increased less than would be expected by examining increased precipitation. June pond surface area in the Missouri Coteau dropped 82 percent from 1973 to 1976 while study ponds in the other strata dropped less than 50 percent over the same period of time. Surface water area also dropped more than would have been expected by decreased precipitation in 1976. This was probably due to the poorer drainage and more porous quality of eastern glacial loams as compared to good drainage and impermeable quality of western clay soils. Bue (1956) believed that study ponds in the Pierre Hills stratum were rapidly filled by heavy rains and good snow runoff because of the large drainage basins and the inability of Pierre soils to rapidly absorb moisture.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bue, I. G. 1956. The ecology of waterfowl on stock ponds in western South Dakota. Ph.D. Thesis. Univ. of Minnesota (Libr. Congr. Card No. Mic. 16550). 127pp. Univ. Micr. Ann Arbor.
- _____., H. G. Uhlig, and J. D. Smith. 1964. Stock ponds and dugouts. Pages 391-398 <u>in</u> J. P. Linduska, ed., Waterfowl tomorrow. U.S. Dept. Interior, Washington, D. C.
- Drewien, R. C. and P. F. Springer. 1969. Ecological relationships of breeding blue-winged teal to prairie potholes. Pages 102-115 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Dzubin, A. 1969. Comments on carrying capacity of small ponds for ducks and possible effects of density on mallard production. Pages 138-160 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Eisenlohr, W. F., Jr. 1969. Hydrology of small water areas in the prairie potholes of South Dakota. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wildl. 32. 59pp.
- _____., and C. E. Sloan. 1968. Generalized hydrology of prairie potholes on the Coteau du Missouri, North Dakota. U.S. Geol. Survey Circ. 558. 12pp.
- Keith, L. B. 1961. A study of waterfowl ecology on small impoundments in southeastern Alberta. Wildl. Monogr. 6. 88pp.
- Pospahala, R. S., D. R. Anderson, and C. J. Henny. 1974. Population ecology of the mallard / II. Breeding habitat conditions, size of the breeding populations, and production indices. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Resour. Publ. 115. 73pp.
- Rundquist, V. M. 1973. Avian ecology on stock ponds in two vegetational types in north central Montana. Ph.D. Thesis. Montana State Univ. (Libr. Congr. Card No. Mic. 74-10307). 125pp. Univ. Micr. Ann Arbor.
- Ruwaldt, J. J., Jr. 1976. Distribution and importance of stockdams, dugouts, and natural wetlands to breeding waterfowl in South Dakota. M.S. Thesis. South Dakota State Univ., Brookings. 45pp.
- Stewart, R. E. and H. A. Kantrud. 1971. Classification of natural ponds and lakes in the glaciated prairie region. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Res. Publ. 92. 57pp.

____and ___. 1974. Breeding waterfowl populations in the prairie pothole region of North Dakota. The Condor 76(1):70-79.

Stoudt, J. H. 1969. Relationship between waterfowl and water areas on the Redvers waterfowl study area. Pages 123-131 in Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wild. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.

_____. 1971. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Saskatchewan parklands. U.S. Dept. Interior. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Res. Publ. 99. 58pp.

APPENDIX C. Breeding pairs and surface water

Mallards, blue-winged teal, and pintails were the most abundant species using stock ponds each of the four years (Table 1). These three species made up 81 percent of the total number of indicated pairs on study ponds over the period. Similar percentages for these three species using stock ponds were found by Bue (1956) in western South Dakota, Swanson (1959) in eastern South Dakota, and Smith (1953) in eastern Montana. Numbers of pairs per pond and numbers of pairs per hectare of surface water compare with densities obtained from studies of natural ponds and lakes (Table 2). Densities obtained on stock ponds were greater than those recorded for studies on natural wetlands. However, those densities could not be compared too literally as the census methods varied between studies.

Decreasing numbers of pairs using stock ponds over the four year period corresponded well with decreasing surface water area and decreasing March and April precipitation. Blue-winged teal pairs corresponded more with fluctuations in surface water area and March and April precipitation than any other species. Numbers of pairs were highest in 1973 when total pond surface area was greatest. Numbers of pairs increased in 1975 when March through April precipitation and surface water area increased. Bellrose (1976) stated that blue-winged teal were more flexible in their homing behavior which enabled them to make adjustments to drought.

The fact that waterfowl breeding populations are influenced

| Waterfow] | T | ndicated bre | eding nair | c | |
|-------------------|------|--------------|------------|------|-------|
| species | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | Total |
| Mallard | 100 | 63 | 65 | 66 | 294 |
| Pintail | 38 | 28 | 32 | 27 | 125 |
| Blue-winged teal | 114 | 50 | 55 - | 47 | 266 |
| Gadwall | 25 | -22 | 21 | 13 | 81 |
| American wigeon | 15 | 7 | 6 | 6 | 34 |
| Northern shoveler | 11 | 3 | 2 | 5 | 21 |
| Green-winged teal | 6 | 2 | 5 | 5 | 18 |
| Lesser scaup | | 4 | 1 | 1 | 6 |
| Ruddy duck | 3 | | | | 3 |
| Total | 312 | 170 | 187 | 170 | 848 |

Table 1. The distribution of indicated breeding pairs on South Dakota stock ponds in the Missouri Coteau and west-river strata combined, 1973 - 1976.

-

,

| Study | Year | Location | <u>Stock</u> pr/ha | ponds pr/pd | Natu <u>pon</u> pr/ha | ral ds pr/pd |
|-------------------------|---------|----------|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|
| Evans and Black (1956) | 1950-53 | S.D. | | | 1.7 | |
| Farmes (1956) | | Minn. – | / | | 3.9 | |
| Bue (1956:137) | 1950-51 | S.D. | 6.2 | 5.5 | | |
| Keith (1961:75) | | Alberta | | | 2.9 | |
| Jahn and Hunt (1964) | | Wis. | | | 0.8 | |
| Kruse (1972:21) | 1967 | N.D. | 7.4 | 7.8 | 3.0 | 2.9 |
| | 1968 | | 8.7 | 9.0 | 2.5 | 2.6 |
| | 1969 | | 4.5 | 5.2 | 1.5 | 1.7 |
| Duebbert (1972) | 1968 | S.D. | | 4.7 | | |
| | 1969 | | | 7.9 | | |
| Lokemoen (1973:180) | 1967-70 | N.D. | 4.5 | | | |
| Rundquist (1973:42) | 1971-72 | Mont. | 4.6-5.2 | | | |
| Gjersing (1975:38) | 1969 | Mont. | | 2.9 | | |
| | 1970 | | | 3.4 | | |
| MeEnroe (1976:22) | 1973-74 | S.D. | | | 2.9 | 4,3 |
| This study ^a | 1973-76 | S.D. | 2.9 | 2.3 | | |
| | | | | | | |

Table 2. Comparison of numbers of breeding pairs per hectare (pr/ha) of surface water and per pond (pr/pd) between stock ponds and natural ponds and lakes, all breeding species combined.

^acombined early and late pair counts

by spring water conditions is well documented in the literature. Krapu et al. (1970) believed that size of the mallard population was a function of the water conditions in late March and early April when mallard pairs were establishing territories. Mendall (1958) found that water levels during a short period before nesting were of major importance in determining breeding population levels of black and ring-necked ducks in Maine. Salyer (1962) stated that breeding pair populations in North Dakota tended to fluctuate with the number of available water areas. Evans and Black (1956) and Jenni (1956) have observed the same relationship on natural ponds in South Dakota. Drewien and Springer (1969) concluded that annual breeding populations at Waubay refuge were determined by local water conditions and that pair density fluctuations resulted from changes in water conditions during a critical period in the spring.

Pairs may be quite sensitive to initial and substantial drops in surface water area and spring precipitation. Numbers of pairs of all species combined dropped 56 percent from 1973 to 1974 (Table 1). This decline in numbers was more extreme than the drop in surface water area available (Table 2, Appendix B). Smith (1969) observed the same phenomenon for mallards on his study area. He conjectured that mallard pairs may have suffered a psychological and possibly a physiological shock when they returned to dry breeding grounds.

Breeding pairs may not immediately recover from this decline. In 1975, numbers of pairs did not increase to 1973 population levels even though surface area available was nearly equal both years.

Dzubin (1969) observed that in a good water year preceded by a year of drought and poor production, the breeding population did not make immediate use of the additional water area. There was a lower pair per pond ratio following the year of drought than during the drought year. He believed that the time lag of one to two years occurred while homing pairs reoccupied the available wetlands and production increased. Stoudt (1971) and Smith (1971) have made similar observations in Saskatchewan and Alberta, respectively.

Trends in densities of all species combined did not follow the trend in surface water area (Table 3). After the initial drop in surface area and number of pairs from 1973 to 1974, densities were influenced more by changes in surface area than changes in numbers of pairs. Surface water area decreased drastically in 1976 but densities of breeding pairs actually increased. Mallard, pintail, and blue-winged teal pairs may have crowded onto the available water areas during the severe drought year. Stoudt (1971) has observed crowding of ducks into marginal habitat during drought.

Total numbers of pairs decreased over the four years in all strata except the Northern Plateau (Table 4). Greatest decreases occurred in the Missouri Coteau and Southern Plateau which were the two strata having greatest decreases in total surface water area. Numbers of pairs in the Northern Plateau from 1973 to 1974 remained stable despite greater drops in surface water area than any other stratum.

Greatest fluctuations in numbers and densities of pairs were for

| Waterfowl species | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | Average |
|--------------------------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|
| Mallard | (0.99) | (0.75) | (0.59) | (0.77) | (0.78) |
| | 1.13 | 0.95 | 0.76 | 1.20 | 1.01 |
| Pintail | (0.38) | (0.31) | (0.29) | (0.32) | (0.33) |
| | 0.43 | 0.39 | 0.37 | 0.50 | 0.42 |
| Blue-winged teal | (1.10) | (0.60) | (0.51) | (0.70) | (0.73) |
| | 1.29 | 0.67 | 0.67 | 1.07 | 0.93 |
| Gadwa11 | (0.25) | (0.27) | (0.19) | (0.19) | (0.23) |
| | 0.29 | 0.30 | 0.26 | 0.30 | 0.29 |
| American wigeon | (0.15) | (0.09) | (0.06) | (0\09) | (0.10) |
| | 0.17 | 0.10 | 0.07 | 0.14 | 0.12 |
| Northern shoveler | (0.11) | (0.04) | (0.02) | (0.07) | (0.06) |
| | 0.13 | 0.04 | 0.02 | 0.11 | 0.08 |
| Gr ee n-winged teal | (0.05) | (0.02) | (0.05) | (0.07) | (0.06) |
| | 0.06 | 0.03 | 0.06 | 0.11 | 0.07 |
| Early-nesting pairs | (1.37) | (1.06) | (0.88) | (1.09) | (1.10) |
| | 1.56 | 1.34 | 1.13 | 1.70 | 1.43 |
| Late-nesting pairs | (1.66) | (1.02) | (0.83) | (1.12) | (1.16) |
| | 1.94 | 1.14 | 1.08 | 1.73 | 1.47 |
| Total ^a | (3.03) | (2.08) | (1.71) | (2.21) | (2.26) |
| | 3.50 | 2.48 | 2.21 | 3.43 | 2.91 |

Table 3. Numbers of waterfowl indicated pairs per pond (in parenthesis) and per hectare of surface water of stock ponds averaged over physiographic strata, 1973 - 1976.

| Katenfoul | •= | <u>Ni ss</u> | <u>aari</u> | <u>Cat</u> | 230 | =7- | tiont | herr | P:at | teou | - | Pj | erro | <u>1111</u> | ls | | <u>_So</u> | ine: | n Pla | <u>iteau</u> | |
|-------------------|-----|--------------|-------------|------------|-------|-----|-------|------|------|--------|-----|----|------|-------------|-------|-----|------------|------|-------|--------------|--|
| species | 73 | 74 | 75 | 75 | Tota: | 73 | /4 | /: | /:> | . 0141 | /3 | | 75 | /o | lota: | / j | /4 | 10 | /5 | iotal | |
| Mallard | 20 | 9 | 8 | 13 | 50 | 11 | 15 | 27 | 13 | 66 | 52 | 28 | 26 | 31 | 137 | 17 | 11 | 4 | 3 | 40 | |
| Pintarl | 13 | 9 | 16 | 13 | 56 | 5 | 5 | 11 | 5 | 25 | 12 | 10 | 3 | 7 | 32 | 3 | 2 | 2 | 2 | 9 | |
| Elua-winged toal | 33 | 13 | ŝ | б | 55 | 12 | õ | 10 | 12 | 40 | 42 | 19 | 24 | 13 | 1ú3 | 19 | 11 | 13 | 11 | 54 | |
| Gadwa I T | 15 | 9 | 4 | 3 | 32 | 4 | 7 | 5 | 5 | 21 | 4 | 5 | S | 5 | 22 | 1 | 1 | 4 | | 6 | |
| American wigeon | 6 | 1 | | | 7 | 3 | 4 | 2 | 3 | 12 | 5 | 2 | 3 | 3 | 13 | 1 | | ī | | 2 | |
| Northern shoveler | 5 | 2 | | | 8 | 1 | | 1 | 3 | 5 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 8 | | | | | | |
| Green-winged teal | 2 | 2 | | | 4 | | | | 2 | 2 | 3 | | 5 | 3 | 11 | | ć | г , | | | |
| Lasser scaup | | 3 | 1 | | 4 | | | | 1 | 1 | | 1 | | | 2 | | | | | | |
| Ruddy duck | | | | | | 3 | | | | 3 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Tetal | 196 | 43 | 37 | 35 | 225 | 39 | 37 | 5ó | 4.; | 176 · | 122 | 66 | 70 | 69 | 327 | 41 | 25 | 24 | 21 | 111 | |

.

٠

Table 4. The distribution of indicated breeding pairs on stock ponds by physicgraphic strata and year, 1973 - 1976.

.

.

northern shovelers, blue-winged teal, American wigeons, and green-winged teal. Numbers and densities of mallard and pintail pairs fluctuated the least between years. Krapu et al. (1970) found that numbers of mallard pairs remained more stable between years than late-nesting pairs. Early-nesting pairs did not respond to yearly changes as much as late-nesting species. Stoudt (1971) observed that mallard populations were quite stable through drought years. American wigeons were found to have the most stable population levels along with mallards while blue-winged teal were adversely affected by the drought.

Density and numbers of mallard pairs dropped from 1973 to 1975 in all strata except the Northern Plateau (Tables 5 to 8). In the Northern Plateau density and numbers of pairs increased over the same period of time. Mallard pairs appeared to have vacated ponds in the Missouri Coteau, Pierre Hills, and Southern Plateau from 1973 to 1975 and moved northward because densities and numbers increased in the Northern Plateau. Pospahala et al. (1974) have shown that mallard breeding populations in western South Dakota were inversely and significantly (P<0.05) correlated with mallard populations of southwest Alberta from 1955 to 1973.

| | 1072 | 1074 | 1075 | 1070 | 0 |
|---------------------|----------------|----------------|--------|--------|----------------|
| | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | |
| Mallard | (1.43) | (0.69) | (0.67) | (1.63) | (1.11) |
| | 1.66 | 0.88 | 0.75 | 2.48 | 1.44 |
| Pintail | (1.29) | (0.69) | (1.33) | (1.63) | (1.24) |
| | 1.50 | 0.88 | 1.49 | 2.48 | 1.59 |
| Blue-winged teal | (2.71) | (1.08) | (0.62) | (1.00) | (1.35) |
| | 2.72 | 1.06 | 0.76 | 2.99 | 1.88 |
| Gadwa11 | (1.14) | (0.75) | (0.31) | (0.50) | (0.68) |
| | 1.14 | 0.74 | 0.38 | 1.50 | 0.94 |
| American wigeon | (0.43) 0.43 | (0.08) 0.08 | | | (0.26) 0.26 |
| Northern shoveler | (0.43) 0.43 | (0.17) 0.16 | | | (0.30) 0.30 |
| Green-winged teal | (0.14) 0.14 | (0.17) 0.16 | | | (0.16) 0.15 |
| Early-nesting pairs | (2.72) | (1.38) | (2.00) | (3.26) | (2.34) |
| | 3.16 | 1.76 | 2.24 | 4.96 | 3.03 |
| Late-nesting pairs | (4.85) | (2.25) | (0.93) | (1.50) | (2.38) |
| | 4.86 | 2.20 | 1.14 | 4.49 | 3.17 |
| Total ^a | (7.57) | (3.63) | (2.93) | (4.76) | (4.72) |
| | 8.02 | 3.96 | 3.38 | 9.45 | 6.20 |

Table 5. Numbers of waterfowl indicated pairs per pond (in parenthesis) and per hectare of surface water of stock ponds in the Missouri Coteau, 1973 - 1976.

| Waterfowl species | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | Average |
|---------------------|----------------|--------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Mallard | (0.46) | (0.79) | (0.90) | (0.62) | (0.69) |
| | 0.73 | 1.55 | 1.95 | 1.15 | 1.36 |
| Pintail | (0.21) | (0.26) | (0.37) | (0.24) | (0.27) |
| | 0.33 | 0.52 | 0.79 | 0.44 | 0.52 |
| Blue-winged teal | (0.52) | (0.33) | (0.36) | (0.71) | (0.48) |
| | 0.86 | 0.65 | 0.80 | 1.23 | 0.89 |
| Gadwa 11 | (0.17) | (0.39) | (0.18) | (0.29) | (0.26) |
| | 0.29 | 0.76 | 0.40 | 0.51 | 0.49 |
| American wigeon | (0.13) | (0.22) | (0.07) | (0.18) | (0.07) |
| | 0.22 | 0.43 | 0.16 | 0.31 | 0.28 |
| Northern shoveler | (0.04) 0.07 | | (0.04) 0.08 | (0.18) 0.31 | (0.07) 0.12 |
| Green-winged teal | | | | (0.12) 0.21 | (0.12) 0.21 |
| Early-nesting pairs | (0.67) | (1.05) | (1.27) | (0.86) | (0.96) |
| | 1.06 | 2.07 | 2.74 | 1.59 | 1.87 |
| Late-nesting pairs | (0.86) | (0.94) | (0.65) | (1.48) | (0.98) |
| | 1.44 | 1.84 | 1.44 | 2.57 | 1.82 |
| Total ^a | (1.53) | (1.99) | (1.92) | (2.34) | (1.95) |
| | 2.50 | 3.91 | 4.18 | 4.16 | 3.69 |

Table 6. Numbers of waterfowl indicated pairs per pond (in parenthesis) and per hectare of surface water of stock ponds in the Northern Plateau, 1973 - 1976.

| Waterfowl species | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | Average |
|---------------------|----------------|--------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Mallard | (1.06) | (0.74) | (0.48) | (0.76) | (0.76) |
| | 1.13 | 0.81 | 0.56 | 1.19 | 0.92 |
| Pintail | (0.24) | (0.26) | (0.06) | (0.17) | (0.18) |
| | 0.26 | 0.29 | 0.06 | 0.27 | 0.22 |
| Blue-winged teal | (0.84) | (0.50) | (0.47) | (0.51) | (0.58) |
| | 0.98 | 0.48 | 0.53 | 0.81 | 0.70 |
| Gadwall | (0.08) | (0.13) | (0.16) | (0.14) | (0.13) |
| | 0.09 | 0.13 | 0.18 | 0.23 | 0.16 |
| American wigeon | (0.10) | (0.05) | (0.06) | (0.09) | (0.08) |
| | 0.12 | 0.05 | 0.07 | 0.14 | 0.10 |
| Northern shoveler | (0.08) | (0.03) | (0.02) | (0.06) | (0.06) |
| | 0.09 | 0.03 | 0.02 | 0.09 | 0.06 |
| Green-winged teal | (0.06) 0.07 | | (0.10) 0.11 | (0.09) 0.14 | (0.08) 0.08 |
| Early-nesting pairs | (1.30) | (1.00) | (0.54) | (0.93) | (0.94) |
| | 1.39 | 1.10 | 0.62 | 1.46 | 1.14 |
| Late-nesting pairs | (1.16) | (0.71) | (0.81) | (0.89) | (0.89) |
| | 1.35 | 0.69 | 0.91 | 1.41 | 1.09 |
| Total ^a | (2.46) | (1.71) | (1.35) | (1.82) | (1.84) |
| | 2.74 | 1.79 | 1.53 | 2.87 | 2.23 |

.

Table 7. Numbers of waterfowl indicated breeding pairs per pond (in parenthesis) and per hectare of surface water of stock ponds in the Pierre Hills, 1973 - 1976.

| Waterfowl species | 1973 | 1974 | 1975 | 1976 | Average |
|---------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|--------|----------------|
| Mallard | (1.21) | (0.79) | (0.29) | (0.57) | (0.72) |
| | 1.13 | 0.96 | 0.27 | 0.69 | 0.76 |
| Pintail | (0.21) | (0.14) | (0.14) | (0.14) | (0.16) |
| | 0.20 | 0.17 | 0.14 | 0.17 | 0.17 |
| Blue-winged teal | (1.36) | (0.79) | (0.81) | (1.22) | (1.05) |
| | 1.24 | 0.90 | 0.95 | 1.11 | 1.05 |
| Gadwall | (0.07) 0.07 | (0.07) 0.08 | (0.25) 0.29 | | (0.13) 0.15 |
| American wigeon | (0.07) 0.07 | | (0.06) 0.07 | | (0.07) 0.07 |
| Early-nesting pairs | (1.42) | (0.93) | (0.43) | (0.71) | (0.87) |
| | 1.33 | 1.13 | 0.41 | 0.86 | 0.93 |
| Late-nesting pairs | (1.50) | (0.86) | (1.12) | (1.22) | (1.18) |
| | 1.38 | 0.98 | 1.31 | 1.11 | 1.20 |
| Total ^a | (2.92) | (1.79) | (1.55) | (1.93) | (2.05) |
| | 2.71 | 2.11 | 1.72 | 1.97 | 2.13 |

Table 8. Numbers of waterfowl indicated breeding pairs per pond (in parenthesis) and per hectare of surface water of stock ponds in the Southern Plateau, 1973 - 1976.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bellrose, F. C. 1976. Ducks, geese, and swans of North America. 2nd ed. Stackpole Books, New York. 543pp.
- Bue, I. G. 1956. The ecology of waterfowl on stock ponds in western South Dakota. Ph.D. Thesis. Univ. of Minnesota (Libr. Congr. Card No. Mic. 16550). 127pp. Univ. Micr. Ann Arbor.
- Drewien, R. C. and P. F. Springer. 1969. Ecological relationships of breeding blue-winged teal to prairie potholes. Pages 102-115 <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Duebbert, H. F. 1972. Ducks on stockponds in north central South Dakota. Pages 33-35 in H. W. Miller, ed., Wildlife on man-made water areas; reports and discussion at the second seminar, April 15-16, 1970. Northern Prairie Wildlife Res. Center. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv.
- Dzubin, A. 1969. Comments on carrying capacity of small ponds for ducks and possible effects of density on mallard production Pages 138–160. <u>in</u> Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- Evans, C. D., and K. E. Black. 1956. Duck production studies on the prairie potholes of South Dakota. U.S. Fish Wild. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wild. 32. 59pp.
- Farmes, R. E. 1956. Potholes of Mahnomen County. The Flicker 28(1): 24-30.
- Gjersing, F. M. 1975. Waterfowl production in relation to restrotation grazing. J. Range Manage. 28(1):37-42.
- Jahn. L. R. and R. A. Hunt. 1964. Duck and coot ecology and management in Wisconsin. Wis. Conserv. Dept. Tech. Bull. 33. 212pp.
- Jenni, D. A. 1956. Pothole water levels in relation to waterfowl breeding populations and production. M.S. Thesis, Utah State Univ., Logan. 55pp.
- Keith, L. B. 1961. A study of waterfowl ecology on small impoundments in southeastern Alberta. Wildl. Monogr. 6. 88pp.
- Krapu, G. D., D. R. Parsons, and M. W. Weller. 1970. Waterfowl in relation to land use and water levels on the Spring Run area. Iowa State J. Sci. 44(4):437-452.

- Kruse, A. D. 1972. Utilization of man-made waters on Arrowwood NWR and WPA's. Pages 21-24 in H. W. Miller, ed., Wildlife on man-made water areas; reports and discussions at the second seminar, April 15-16, 1970. Northern Prairie Wildlife Res. Center. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv.
- Lokemoen, J. T. 1973. Waterfowl production on stock-watering ponds in the northern plains. J. Range Manage. 26(3):179-184.
- McEnroe, M. R. 1976. Factors influencing habitat use by breeding waterfowl in South Dakota. M.S. Thesis, South Dakota State Univ. Brookings. 67pp.
- Mendall, H. L. 1958. The ring-necked duck in the Northeast. Univ. of Maine Bull. 60(16). 317pp.
- Pospahala, R. S., D. R. Anderson, and C. J. Henny. 1974. Population ecology of the mallard / II. Breeding habitat conditions, sizes of the breeding populations, and production indices. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Res. Publ. 115. 73pp.
- Rundquist, V. M. 1973. Avian ecology on stock ponds in two vegetational types in north central Montana. Ph.D. Thesis. Montana State Univ. (Libr. Congr. Card No. 74-10307). 125pp. Univ. Micr. Ann Arbor.
- Salyer, J. W. 1962. Effects of drought and land use on prairie nesting ducks. Trans. N. Amer. Wild. Nat. Res Conf. 27:69-79.
- Smith, A. G. 1969. Waterfowl-habitat relationships on the Lousana, Alberta, waterfowl study area. Pages 116-122 in Saskatoon wetlands seminar. Can. Wildl. Serv. Rep. Ser. 6.
- _____. 1971. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Alberta parklands. U.S. Dept. Interior. Bur. Sport Fish. Wildl. Res. Publ. 98. 49pp.
- Smith, R. H. 1953. A study of waterfowl production on artificial reservoirs in eastern Montana. J. Wildl. Manage. 17(3):276-291.
- Stoudt, J. H. 1971. Ecological factors affecting waterfowl production in the Saskatchewan parklands. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Spec. Sci. Rep. Wildl. 90. 58pp.
- Swanson, J. D. 1959. Wildlife utilization of stock ponds in Minnehaha County, South Dakota. M.S. Thesis. South Dakota State Univ., Brookings. 43pp.

| Independent Variable | Ferendent Variable (Vaterfry) Scories) | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|--|----------------|---------------------|----------|-----------------------|----------------|----------------------|--|--|--|
| | :lallard | Pintaıl | Blue-winged Teal | Gadwa li | Jirenica : Jigeoi. | Shoveler | Green-winded Teel | | | |
| нрв | 0.2977 | 0.3001 | 0.5214 | 0.1747 | | 0.3512 | G. 2052 | | | |
| Hrsw | 0.2414 | 0. 2046 | ⊎. 5372 | 0.1669 | | 0.3298 | 0.1718 | | | |
| HPCW | 0.2705 | 0.2440 |). 5002 | 0.2701 | 2,1100 |). 3029 | 0.1750 | | | |
| PSW | | | 0. 1463 | | | | | | | |
| ₽ DW | | | -0.2496 | | | | | | | |
| SLDI | U. 3845 | 0. 2530 | 0.5666 | 0.2025 | | 2.2894 | 0.1723 | | | |
| VEGH | 0,2436 | 0. 1123 | 0.3779 | 0.1374 | | 0.1922 | 0.1319 | | | |
| CRAT2 | 0.1544 | 0.1673 | 0.2185 | 0.1452 | 0.1139 | | | | | |
| CRAT3 | | | 0.1911 | | | | | | | |
| ORAT 1 | | | 0. 1117 | | | | | | | |
| DRAT4 | | | -0.1171 | | | | | | | |
| SINT | -0.1243 | | | | | | | | | |
| HSMG | 0.1335 | | | | | | | | | |
| HFARM | 0.2367 | | | | | | | | | |
| dAOЯh | | 0. 1070 | | | | | | | | |
| SCF | | | | | | | 0.1968 | | | |
| SCS | 0. 2046 | 0.1517 | 0.3507 | 0.1912 | 0.2118 | 0.2270 | 0.2026 | | | |
| TYP | 0.2172 | | 0.1636 | | | 0.1542 | 0. 1065 | | | |
| CAR | | | 0.2698 | 0.3587 | 0.2183 | 0.3224 | | | | |
| NWC | -0.1115 | 0.2245 | | 0.1777 | | | | | | |
| нов | | 0.2126 | | 0.1467 | | | | | | |
| NASW | -0.1667 | | -0. 1412 | -0.1104 | -0.1272 | -0.1074 | | | | |
| HSWA | -0.1454 | | -0.1127 | | -0.1169 | | | | | |
| NNSW | | 0. 1101 | | 0.1041 | | | | | | |
| HSWN | | 0.1336 | 0. 1927 | 0.1175 | | 0.1892 | | | | |
| NOW | -0.1069 | | | | | | | | | |
| ношв | -0.1631 | | | | | | | | | |
| NDB | | 0.2817 | | 0.2512 | | | 0.1213 | | | |
| TSLD | -0.1198 | | | | | | | | | |
| DNRMC | -0.1367 | | -0.1682 | | | | | | | |
| OOFMC | | | -0.1617 | | | | | | | |
| 04 | | 0.2867 | 0.1189 | 0.2153 | | 0.1453 | | | | |
| D5 | | | | | 0.1111 | | | | | |
| D6 | | -0.1501 | | -0.1325 | - | | | | | |
| WIND | | | | | C.1068 | | | | | |

APPE'DIX D: Correlation matrix or significant (a > 0.106 at 0.05 lavel) and highly significant (a > 0.120 at 0.07 level) simile correlation coefficients between independent variables and indicated breezing pairs by species, 1970-1975.
| - jue | . 1 04H | PSW Pow | 1 1976) | VE TLAND VE GIE | HABITAT CPA12 | CPAT 3 | ES DRAFI | DRAT3 | TRATA | DRATS PER | ELE | DOMINAN SCF SC | EMERGEN S TYP | CAP POL |
|-----------------------|--|--------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|--------------------|----------------------------|-----------|
| те 0. Э | 94 ^a ().89 97 ^b ().84 | -0.31 -0.2? | 0.87 0.87 | 0.36 | 0.20 0.24 | 0. 19 | | | | | | C.20 0 0.17 0 | .27 0.36 26 0.34 | |
| ^N X | 0.91 (1.92 | 0.16 -0.33 0.18 -0.39 | 0.87 0.84 | 0.35 0.41 | 0.24 0.15 | 0.16 0.23 | | | | | | 0.22 0. 0.17 0. | 33 0.37 32 0.36 | |
| 114 | | 0.21 0.21 0.23 -0.12 | 0.38 0.99 | 0.31 0.37 | 0. 18 | ი. 16 0. 23 | 0. 18 | | -0.17 | | | 0.19 0 . | 31 0.33 33 0.32 | |
| 54 | | | 0.24 0.25 | 0.15 0.23 | 0.18 0.14 | 0.14 | 0.22 0.16 | -0.46 -0.47 | -0.66 -0.65 | 0.24 0.19 | 0.23 0.23 | 0. 0. | 20 20 | |
| 92 | | | -1).36 -0.30 | -0.52 -0.56 | -0.41 -0.40 | -0.26 -0.31 | | 0.14 | | | -0.17 -0.19 | -0.21 -0. -0. | 31 -0.36 26 -0.41 | |
| 61 | | | | 0. 38 0. 48 | 0. 26 0. 17 | 0. 24 0. 32 | 0.17 | -0.18 -9.15 | -0.15 -0.19 | | | 0.15 0. 0. | 33 0.42 36 0.38 | |
| EGI | | | | | 0.36 0.34 | 0.39 0.50 | 0.14 | -0.14 -0.16 | | | 0.17 0.14 | 0. 0.18 0. | 46 0.56 50 0.58 | 0.15 0.14 |
| På 17 | | | | | | -0.14 | | | | | 0.34 0.28 | 0. 0. | 30 0.17 25 0 .14 | |
| R:13 | | | | | | | | | ١ | | | 0. 0. | 14 0.41 28 0.37 | |
| 2:11 | | | | | | | | | -0.18 | | 0.18 | 0. | 14 | 0.15 |
| P.413 | | | | | | | | | -0.19 | | 0.16 | -0. | 16 | |
| Τ Α Τ Α | | | | | | | | | | -0.19 -0.17 | | | | |
| PAT - | | | | | | | | | | -0.17 | | 0. | 16 | 0.23 |
| Cs | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.24 | -0.18 | |
| LE. | | | | * | | | | | | | | 0. 0. | 15 21 | |
| 1 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0.22 0.19 | 0.21 0.15 |
| AP. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ۹L | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0.19 |

APPENDIX E: Correlation matrix of highly significant (P=0.01; No: $\gamma = 0$) simple correlations coefficients between independent variables.

+

| | | | WETLAN | D ASSOCI | ATION VA | RIABLES | | | | | PHYSIC | DGRAPHIC | STRATA |
|------------|--------|----------------|--------------|--------------|----------|---------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|
| | THE | nasu - | ISWA | MIISW | HSMI | NUW | HÖWB | NDB | TSLD | DWBMC | 04` | 05 | D6 |
| Hr P. | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| HPSW | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| HP-OH | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | 0.17 | | | | | | | | | |
| ::50 | -0.11 | | 0.18 0.29 | 0.16 | | 0.17 | 0.18 0.23 | -0.21 -0.22 | 0.23 | -0.17 -0.18 | -0.22 -0.18 | 0.17 | |
| 1.54 | | | | -0.18 | | | | | -0.15 | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0.11 |
| SLUI | | -0.14 | | 0.18 | | | | | | | | | |
| V.GH | | | | 0.14 | | | | | | | | 0.15 | |
| | | | | 0.26 | | | | | -0.15 | | | | |
| CPAT2 | | | | 0.15 | | | | | | | | | |
| CRATS | C. 15 | | | 0. 16 | | | | | | | | | |
| FRATI | | | | 0.15 | | | | | | | | 0.32 | -0.16 |
| | | | | 0.21 | | 0.15 | | | | | | | |
| DRAT3 | | | | -0,14 | | -0.16 | -0.16 -0.16 | | -0.25 -0.15 | 0.20 | | | |
| PPAL4 | ቦ. 15 | | | | | | | 0.18 | | | 0.17 | | |
| | | | | | | | | 0.14 | | | | | |
| рглт5 | | | | | | | | 0.17 | | | | | |
| PGR | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.14 |
| FLE | | | | | | | | | | | -0.15 | 0.23 0.17 | -0.20 |
| SCF | | | | | 0.16 | | | | | | | | |
| | | • | | | 0.18 | | | | | | | | |
| 265 | | -0.14 -0.19 | -0.14 | 0.17 | | | -0.16 | | | | | | |
| Түр | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | 0.16 | | | | | | | | -0.16 | | |
| CUb | (*. 17 | | | <u>ዮ. ??</u> | 0. 22 | | | 0.14 | 0.14 | -0.14 | 0,17 | | -0.16 |

.

1

 66

.

AFRENDAY F: (Continued)

| | | | | - UFL 4 | ED RAGT | TAL VARIA | | | | | DISTL | IRUANCE | 11 | ME AND W | EATHER | |
|----------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|-------------------|--------------------------|----------------|-------|------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|-------|----------|--------|-------------|
| - | с17Л | N.S.Y. | HI ARA | III AS | ET ALO | HROAD | HTSEE | HCOR | THALF | THAT | TINGHC - | DOFINC | TINE | ONIM | TEMP | <u>PVIN</u> |
| 4): I <u>(</u> | 0.14 | | 6, 41 6, 42 | | | 0 15 | | | | | -0.24 -0.29 | -0.20 -0.23 | | | | |
| i V | 0,13 1 13 | | (* 19 | | | | | | | | -0.23 -0.30 | -0.18 -0.20 | | 0.14 | | 0.15 |
| ·" » | 0.16 1.16 | | 0.13 0.13 | | | | | | | | -0.18 -0.26 | -0.14 | | | | 0. 14 |
| ···. # | | | | | -0.18 | | | | -0.14 | | | | 0.18 | -0.18 | -0.16 | |
| P∂r∎ | | | |), 15 9, 17 | | -0.22 | | | | -0.16 -0.30 | 0.20 0.15 | 0.25 0.29 | | | | |
| 27.04 | | | 0.35 0.30 | -0, 17 0, 14 | | | | | | | -0.22 -0.27 | -0.20 -0.23 | | | | |
| ALCH | | | 0.15 11.23 | -0.14 -0.20 | 0, 14 0, 20 | | | | | | -0.17 -0.21 | -0.18 -0.19 | ` | | | |
| el:M2 | | | | | | U. 14 | | | | | | -0.14 | | | | |
| (PAL3 | | n. 22 0 - 14 | 0.18 0.17 | -0.17 -0.16 | | | | | | | -0.19 -0.17 | | | | | |
| 1:CAI 1 | | | | -0.14 | U . 20 | | | | | | | -0.17 | | | -0.20 | |
| 6uria | -0.14 | | | -fi. 22 -0. 15 | 0.21 0.16 | U. 18 | | 0.14 | 0.17 | | -0.16 | -0.21 | -0.19 | | | |
| ייינגיים | | 0.17 | | 0.15 | 0.21 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| l?b | 4).66 ().67 | -0.33 -1.30 | | 0.59 ().61 | -0. 18 -0 . 39 | -0.19 -0.19 | | | -0.34 -0.40 | -0.31 -0.25 | 0.21 | | | | | |
| SCI | - 4, 10 | | | -0.18 | -0.14 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 17. | | 0.28 | 0.15 | -0.32 -0.20 | D. 19 0. 18 | | | | | | -0.24 -0.22 | -0.22 -0.14 | | | | |
| (A 2 | | 0.22 | | | | | | | | | | -0.25 | | | | |

1

POL

4

0.22

1 00

ATTION E: (Continued)

| | | WEEL | MD ASSO | 011101 | VARTAGLE | 5 | | | | PHYSIOG | PAPHIC S | TRATA | |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|----------------------|-----------------------|--------------|---------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|--------------------|-----------|
| | tiw strow | цему | છે. મ | Ht.aiti | Now | nome . | 1105 | -15LD | DHISTIC | bă | 05 | UG | ***** |
| | U.41 0.3/ | | 0.55 0.45 | 0.29 0.22 | 0.5 9 0.54 | 0.22 0,17 | 0.61 0.63 | 0.36 0.33 | -0.51 -0.47 | 0.43 0.43 | | -(1, 41 -(1, 41 | |
| 84° X | | 0.58 0.53 | | | 0, 68 0, 69 | 0.57 0.58 | | 0.27 0.32 | -0.39 -0.44 | | -0.14 -0.16 | | |
| KCMA | | | | | 0, 35 0, 35 | 0. 89 0. 91 | | 0.29 ().33 | -0.30 | | | -0.15 | |
| | | | | 0.43 0.41 | (), 76 (), 76 | 0.19 0.19 | | 0.54 0.58 | -0.45 -0.48 | n. 18 | 0.28 0.28 | 0. 37 -0. 36 | |
| HONG | | | | | U. 27 U. 29 | 0.32 0.23 | | 0.32 0.32 | -0.22 | 0.32 | | -0.26 | |
| nc u | | | | | | 0. 49 0. 51 | | 0.53 0.62 | -0. 58 -0. 60 | | | -0.25 -0.24 | |
| HOME | | | | | | | | 0.47 0.51 | -0.40 | | | | |
| . [14]2 | | | | | | | | | | 0.42 0.40 | | -0.29 -0.29 | |
| 1st D | | | | | | | | | -0.51 -0.56 | | 0.25 0.26 | -0.26 -0.25 | |
| DMGEN, | | | | | | | | | | | -0.28 | 0.32 | |
| 64 | | | | | | | | | | | -0.22 -0.22 | -0.40 -0.40 | |
| 11.2 | | | | | | | | | | | | -(), 54 -0, 53 | |
| 06 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

.

1

2

101

I.

AFERDIX E: (Continued)

| | | | | UPLA | ND HABI | TA <u>t v</u> ari/ | ABLES | | | | DIST | URBANCE | Т | IHE AND | WEATHER | 2 |
|---------|------|----------------|-------|----------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------------|------------------|----------------|-------|---------|--------------|----------------|
| | GINT | HS!IG | HFARE | HEAS | HFALO | HROAD | HTREE | HCOR | HALF | ннау | DEFRANC | DOFMC | TIPE | | TEMP | RAIN |
| GINT | | -0.24 -0.25 | | 0.38 0.44 | -0.23 -0.27 | -0. 15 -0. 19 | | | -0.25 -0.27 | -0.26 -0.23 | 0. 16 0. 14 | | | | | |
| H&PPG | | | | -0,54 -0.53 | | | | | | 6.14 | -0. 21 | -0.13 | | | | |
| нгари | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| PPAS | | | | | -0.43 -0.45 | -0. 47 -0. 47 | -0. 18 - 0 . 19 | -0.26 -0.26 | -0.48 -0.48 | -0.55 -0.55 | 0.25 0.24 | 0.35 0.37 | | | | |
| HF4LQ | | | | | | | | | | | -0. 14 -0. 17 | | | 0.17 | -0.15 | |
| HROAD | | | | | | | | | 0.32 0.31 | 0.51 0.53 | -0.37 -0.31 | -0.43 -0.41 | | | | |
| HTREE | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.17 -0.18 | | | | |
| HCUP | | | | | | | | | 0. 18 0. 18 | | -0.16 | | | | | |
| hal f | | | | | | | | | | 0.14 0.15 | | | -0.18 | | | |
| нна | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.28 -0.28 | | | | |
| TIME | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0.26 0.17 | |
| (d174D) | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.23 | 0.27 |
| TEND | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | -0.26 -0.23 |

1

1

| | | | UE TLA | IID ASSOC | ALLOW V | ARIABLE | رم ا | | | | PHYSIOGE | S DIHAY | IRATA |
|------------------|----------------|----------|-----------|---|---------|--------------|---------|----------------|------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|------------|--------------|
| | HINC | HASH | HSHK | RING | HSIM | NON | HOMB | 80 | aisi | CANENAC | 3 | 8 | 23 |
| 1#19 | | 0. 14 | 0.16 | | | | 0. 14 | | | | | | |
| STATE I | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| HEVEN | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SN 74 | -0.15 -0.15 | | | | | | | | | | -0° | | |
| HFALO | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Oruch | 0.27 0.25 | | | | | | | 0, 17 0, 18 | ÷ | -0)-11% -00-100- | 0.22 | | -0- JE |
| 3 3us tH | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| HICOR | | | | | | | | | | | 0.21 | ì | |
| HACF | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| DRIFFIC | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| DOFMC | -0-30 -0-26 | | | 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | -0, 35 | 80 6 6 | | -0.20 | -0, 21 -0, 17 | | - 19- 133 - 113- - 113- | | 27-0 27-0 |
| 712 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| rt Gintur | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| TE MP | | | | ŝ | | | | | ļ | | Ê | ļ | |
| 81T | | | | 1 | | | | | | | 12-0 | 0. 14 1 | |
| asimole co | Trelat ic | THE FOR | lay censu | | | | | | | | | | |
| bsimmle co | rrellati | on for J | ริทยา และ | Sus. | | | | | | | | | |

1

.

103

•